
 
 
LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE  Contact: Democracy@enfield.gov.uk 

 
Wednesday, 26 July 2023 at 10.00 am  Direct: 020-8132-0807 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Silver Street, 
Enfield, EN1 3XA 

 Tel: 020-8379-1000 
 Ext: 0807 
 E-mail: democracy@enfield.gov.uk 

 Council website: www.enfield.gov.uk 

 
 
 
Councillors:  Mahym Bedekova (Chair), Edward Smith, and George Savva MBE. 
 
 
 

AGENDA – PART 1 
 
1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES   
 
2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   
 
 Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary, other pecuniary or 

non-pecuniary interests relating to items on the agenda.  
 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 10) 
 
 To receive and agree the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 3 May 

2023. 
 

4. MAXI FOOD & WINE - 38 CHASE SIDE, SOUTHGATE, N14 5PA (Pages 11 
- 98) 

 
 Review Application  

 
5. SOUTHGATE FOOD CENTRE - 30-32 CHASE SIDE, LONDON, N14 5PA 

(Pages 99 - 208) 
 
 Review Application 

 
6. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
 If necessary, to consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the 

Local Government Act 1972 excluding the press and public from the meeting 
for any items of business moved to part 2 of the agenda on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in those 
paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006).  
(There is no part 2 agenda) 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:jane.creer@enfield.gov.uk
http://www.enfield.gov.uk/


 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 3 MAY 2023 

COUNCILLORS 

PRESENT George Savva MBE (Chair), Mahym Bedekova, and Michael 
Rye OBE 

OFFICERS: Ellie Green (Principal Licensing Officer), Victor Ktorakis 
(Senior Environmental Health Officer), Tayo Hasan (Legal 
Representative), and Harry Blake-Herbert (Governance 
Officer) 

Also Attending: Arlene auf der Mauer (ADM Training, representing the 
applicant/ owner/ Toto Lounge & Bar Ltd Director, Taulant 
Kojnozi), Cllr Doug Taylor (Ward Councillor, representing IP1), 
and Derek Ewart (Police Constable).  

1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interest received regarding any item on the 
agenda.  

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

AGREED the minutes of the meetings held on Wednesday 29 March 2023 
and Wednesday 5 April 2023 as a correct record.  

4. TROYS LOUNGE - 74 ALDERMANS HILL, LONDON N13 4PP

The Licencing Team RECEIVED a Variation of Premises Licence application 
from Mr Taulant Kojnozi, Director of Toto Lounge & Bar Ltd, at the premises 
known as and situated at Troy’s Lounge, 74 Aldermans Hill, London N13 4PP. 

NOTED 

1. The Introduction by Ellie Green, Principal Licensing Officer, including:

a. The premises located at 74 Aldermans Hill, London N13 4PP, was
previously licensed as an off licence, between 21 July 2011 and 14
June 2021. During this time, the premises had a number of different

licence holders and Designated Premises Supervisors. This licence

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

has been suspended, due to non-payment of the annual fee, for the 
new licence period. This licence is still suspended, but it is legally 
possible for a premises to have more than one premises licence. The 
Licensing Team have advised the previous premises licence holder 
that this should be surrendered, but as of yet, no response has been 
received.  

b. On 13 June 2022, an application was made by Toto Lounge & Bar Ltd
for a new premises licence at a premises, described as a “Restaurant
Café/Coffee Shop”. The director at that time was Mr Alfons Prifti. Mr
Prifti was also the named DPS for this application.

c. The new application sought: Supply of Alcohol (on supply only): 10am
to 23:30 Sunday to Thursday, 10am to 00:30 Friday & Saturday; Late
Night Refreshment (indoor and outdoor): 23:00 to 23:30 Sunday to
Thursday, 00:30 Friday & Saturday; and opening hours: 06:30 to 00:00
Monday to Thursday, 06:30 to 01:00 Friday & Saturday, and 08:00 to
00:00 Sunday.

d. The Licensing Authority objected seeking a reduction of hours, and
conditions. The new application also attracted objections from other
parties, namely eleven local residents.

e. As a result of the outstanding representations, the Licensing Sub-
Committee determined the application at a hearing on 3 August 2022.
The application was granted in part, with conditions and hours as
follows: Supply of Alcohol (on supply only): 10am to 23:30 daily; Late
Night Refreshment (indoor only): 23:00 to 23:30 Sunday to Thursday,
23:00 to 00:00 Friday & Saturday; and opening hours 06:30 to 00:00
Monday to Friday, and 08:00 to 00:00 Saturday & Sunday.

f. On or around the 9th of January 2023, the Licensing Team were made
aware that the premises had changed its name to Troy’s Lounge Bar,
then on or around 23 February 2023, the Licensing Team were made
aware that the premises had changed its name to Troy’s Lounge.

g. On 23 February 2023, the Licensing Team received the first variation
application for premises licence LN/202200287. The applicant details
were incorrect so was amended and re-submitted the same day.
However, as the applicant did not meet the advertising requirements;
the consultation for the variation recommenced and the last date for
representation was 8 April 2023.

h. The premises licence holder is still Toto Lounge & Bar Limited, of 74
Aldermans Hill, Palmers Green, London, United Kingdom, N13 4PP,
registered Company number 13062445. On 8 August 2022, five days
after the new premises licence application was granted at the hearing,
the then director at the time of the new application, Mr Alfons Prifti,
resigned as director of this company. The same day, current director is
Mr Taulant Kojnozi, became an active director of the company. Mr
Alfons Prifti is still the named DPS on this licence.

i. This variation application seeks to formally change the name of the
premises to Troy’s Lounge from Toto’s Lounge & Bar Ltd, and
increase/ extend the hours/ times of the premises activities. Supply of
Alcohol (on supply only): Current Times: Monday-Sunday 10:00- 23:30,

Page 2



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

Proposed Times Monday-Sunday 10:00-00:00; Opening hours: Current 
Times: Monday-Friday 06:30- 00:00, Saturday & Sunday 08:00-00:00; 
Proposed Times: Monday-Friday 06:30-00:30, Saturday & Sunday 
08:00- 00:30.  

j. No regulated entertainment such as live or recorded music have been
applied for in this variation, therefore only background music is
permitted after 11pm.

k. Representations were received on behalf of the Licensing Authority,
Metropolitan Police, and a local resident in Grovelands Road; all of
whom objected to the extension of hours, under the Prevention of
Crime and Disorder and Prevention of Nuisance licensing objectives.
No written representation was received from Toto Lounge & Bar
Limited.

l. The premises operates as a bar with a large seating area at the rear.
m. If the Licensing Committee were minded to grant permission for the

premises to open, and supply alcohol for longer periods, the police
would ask that the proposed times in the application be shortened, and
some additional/ modified/ amended conditions be added, as set out in
the report.

n. Ellie introduced the attendees, set out the running order for the
meeting, and reminded each party that they would have 5 minutes
each to present their representations.

2. Arlene auf der Mauer, ADM Training, representing Toto Lounge & Bar Ltd
Director Taulant Kojnozi, made the following statement:

a. She explained to the committee that her client wanted to extend the
hours the premises could operate, and the times they were seeking to
extend to.

b. It was expressed that Mr Taulant Kojnozi had been unable to attend
due to a family emergency and that she had substituted for him at the
last minute.

c. Arlene auf der Mauer conveyed that Mr Alfons Prifti was still the named
DPS because Mr Taulant Kojnozi had been waiting to get his personal
licence, which he had since got. She described that they had tried to
vary this licence, but the forms/application were sent in the incorrect
format, and they would reapply; it was not that attempts had not been
made to change this.

d. It was said that Mr Taulant Kojnozi had not been approached by
anyone regarding complaints about noise, and that he was unsure what
noise these complaints related to.

e. Arlene questioned what anticipated crime would arise if the hours the
premises operated were extended. She expressed that as and when
these clarifications were made, they could perhaps take steps to
mitigate these concerns/ issues; and said they had not put in any extra
conditions because they did not anticipate the need for further
measures.

Page 3



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

f. It was pointed out that other premises along the same parade open
until late, and they were unsure why they would not also be able to
remain open later.

3. In response, the following comments and questions were received:

a. The Chair asked why Mr Taulant Kojnozi was seeking to extend the
hours the premises could operate. Arlene auf der Mauer advised that
Troy’s Lounge was a new business, and customers had expressed to
the owner that they wanted the premises to operate for longer hours.

b. Cllr Bedekova queried how the director claimed to have no knowledge
of the complaints, when he had been made aware of the breach of the
Health Act 2006, by allowing smoking in the rear area. Arlene
responded that she was aware of this; she said that she had spoken to
him about it, and that he felt there were many premises near/ around
the area, where this was also taking place. It was reiterated that no one
had approached Mr Taulant Kojnozi with noise complaints. Arlene
highlighted that the first complaint referenced in the report was made in
early August, and that Mr Taulant Kojnozi had only opened in
September. Arlene explained that they had tried to respond to the
Police’s representation, but the message was always blocked/ the
email would not go through. She added that when they tried to contact
a police officer they had been working with on the licence/issues; the
officer informed them that they had left the force. She said that they
had asked for the message be passed on, and had tried to
communicate with the police on several occasions, but the emails had
been blocked/ not gone through. It was conveyed that Mr Taulant
Kojnozi would be occupying the residential flats directly above the
premises, thus reducing some of the concern about noise. Arlene
pointed out that there was a park in front of, and a service road and
gardens behind the premises, before any houses; thus, the only
residential properties surrounding the premises were those flats above
the parade of businesses. She expressed that the owner could not see
how the additional hours of operation being sought would result in a big
impact on noise and or crime, and that steps would be taken to mitigate
these issues if they arose.

c. Ellie Green enquired if Mr Taulant Kojnozi had, or was going to take
ownership of the whole building, including the flats upstairs, to which
Arlene replied that he was in the process of doing this.

d. Cllr Rye asked how Mr Taulant Kojnozi was running the business
differently to previous owners, given the history of the premises, of
complaints/ concerns from residents, the police, and the Licensing
Authority. Arlene responded that she did not know how well her client
knew the former DPS, and that she thought he had only been willing to
stay on as the DPS to help Mr Taulant Kojnozi with the takeover. She
said that Mr Taulant Kojnozi had not been aware the premises was
licensed before, and that upon finding out, she advised him he had not
needed apply for a new licence, just transfer the old one, and

Page 4



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

wondered why the Licensing Authority had not flagged this up 
previously. Ellie Green advised that they did raise this with him at the 
previous hearing; that the licences were for two different business 
models, and there was nothing preventing two licences operating at 
once. Arlene added that he had no connection with the previous 
owners, and had not researched the history of the premises before 
purchasing it, but expressed that this was common, and that she 
advises her clients to do this research before buying.  

e. Cllr Rye queried how the extra time Mr Taulant Kojnozi was applying to
operate for would enhance/ improve the business. Arlene replied that a
number of Mr Taulant Kojnozi’s customers expressed that they work
late, and do not have many choices of places to go in the evening, and
this would give them somewhere to go.

f. The Chair enquired how they were planning to stop smoking in the rear
area. Arlene responded that she had asked him to stop. The Chair
conveyed that he felt this was not enough reassurance.

g. Cllr Bedekova asked officers if anyone had been in touch with the
applicant about noise complaints. Victor Ktorakis said he had spoken to
the owner over the phone about noise, and Mr Taulant Kojnozi
mentioned that he was aware of the complaint that had been described
to him on 6th December; and they had record that he was also informed
about this in November.

h. The Chair enquired if Mr Taulant Kojnozi was present at the time the
contraventions/ complaints took place. Arlene responded that on one
occasion, music had supposedly been played for customers outside the
front of the premises. However, Mr Taulant Kojnozi had said to her that
no music had been played for customers; instead, one member of staff
accidently turned the volume up/ loud, but that this was turned down
quickly and was not being played for anyone.

i. The Chair queried if the staff needed more training. Arlene replied that
they needed to be made more responsible for their own actions; that
they had received training; and the member of staff had described the
music incident as an accident, and was not prolonged.

j. The Chair said Mr Taulant Kojnozi should have been present at the
meeting, to which Arlene advised she had been informed that he had a
family emergency.

k. Ellie Green confirmed the Licensing Team received an email on 20th

January, requesting a vary of the DPS application, but that this had not
been associated with a payment, and they advised about this but had
not received anything back. Arlene asked how they request the
payment. Ellie responded that an email had been sent with a link to the
online payment. Arlene said the forms had not been accepted. Ellie
advised the application would not be accepted until a payment had
been received. Arlene said she thought the application was rejected on
the basis of the formatting of individual pages. Ellie replied that advise
had been given with regards to both payment and how to complete/
format the application properly. Arlene responded that the intention of
the owner/ director was to vary the DPS.

Page 5



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

4. Victor Ktorakis, Senior Environmental Health Officer, made the following
statement:

a. He pointed out that the premises was located in a heavily populated
residential area, and that the Licensing Authority believe the longer
hours would have a detrimental impact on neighbouring residents,
particularly those living along the parade. Victor expressed the potential
for greater noise nuisance from customers smoking outside and or
dispersing from the premises later at night.

b. It was conveyed that there had been several complaints received
regarding noise, particularly loud music, since the business changed
hands to the new owner.

c. He explained the rear ‘garden area’ had been substantially enclosed to
create an additional indoor seating area.

d. Noise diary sheets submitted by complainants suggested nine
instances of noise disturbance between 4 August 2022 and 31 October
2022, all of which arose following the application for a new premises
licence and occurred under the management of the current premises
licence holder.

e. Reports also suggested that loud music was being played later than
23:00, and that the licence did not cover regulated activity of any kind,
thus this should not be occurring.

f. The Licensing Authority are also aware of repeated breaches of the
Health Act 2006, as the Premises Licence Holder has continued to
allow smoking in a smoke free premises despite several warning; and
smoking had been encouraged by the provision of ash trays to the
tables in the rear room. Victor described that the continued breaches
undermine the licencing objectives with regards to the prevention of
crime and disorder, and allowing smoking in a smoke free area was a
criminal offence.

g. He felt the repeated breaches demonstrated the premises licence
holder was not competent to ensure compliance with current
legislation/ guidance. Thus, the Licensing Authority’s position was to
object the proposed increase in opening and sale of alcohol hours, but
that there were no objections to the change of the premises name.

5. In response, the following comments and questions were received:

a. The Chair asked what constituted loud music. Victor responded that
this was anything above ambient levels of noise, that there was not a
sound/ decibel level reading that defined this, but that this could be
anything which was loud enough as to disturb a normal conversation.
He added the Environment Protection Act deals with noise nuisance,
defined as a noise that affects the normal enjoyment of a neighbouring
property.

b. The Chair queried where the smoking outside was taking place. Victor
described that the smoking that had taken place was not outside, but

Page 6



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

instead in the rear ‘garden’ area, which had become substantially 
enclosed (more than 50%). The Chair added his understanding that the 
premises had been granted permission for smoking in this outside area 
but not in an enclosed space, and the licence holder should not have 
enclosed this garden area.  

c. The Chair enquired how many times officers had witnessed breaches
of the license. Victor replied that with regards to loud music, it had been
substantiated once. The diary sheets had also been submitted by
residents, which was common practice, to confirm a pattern, and give
the licence holder an opportunity to rectify the issue. With regards to
smoking, this was said to have been witnessed twice, on the first
occasion Mr Taulant Kojnozi was not present, but Victor described
discussing this with him; on the second occasion Mr Taulant Kojnozi
was present and aware. Victor explained that they had received a
formal warning, and the next step would be prosecution action.

d. Cllr Rye asked if the licence holder had been made directly aware of
noise contraventions. Victor confirmed that Charlotte Palmer had
spoken to the owner in November regarding noise, and that on his
licensing visit, he had also spoken to him about noise complaints.

e. The Chair enquired if these complaints were written or received over
the phone, to which Victor responded that they were diary sheets, and
so written.

f. Cllr Bedekova queried if these complaints came from one or multiple
residents, to which Victor confirmed there were a number of different
complainants.

g. Arlene auf der Mauer asked about a noise complaint being received on
4th August 2022, which was before her client had opened in
September. She queried how this could be their responsibility, and
asked if the other noise complaints could have emanated from other/
different premises. Tayo Hasan, legal representative, advised Arlene
that her questions should be directed to the Officers, and not members
of the committee. Officers advised that the premises was licensed by
the same company, and it was only a change in Director that had taken
place; they said the company was trading before September, and a
change in director was irrelevant.

6. Derek Ewart, Police Constable, made the following statement:

a. It was highlighted that the premises were located on a busy residential
street, and the proposed extension to hours would negatively impact on
the community, particularly the residents living on the parade.

b. He expressed that if the Licensing Authority were minded to grant the
application, the police would ask the proposed hours the premises is
open and able to supply alcohol, be reduced, and additional/ modified/
amended conditions be added, relating to training, CCTV etc., as set
out in the report.

7. In response, the following comments and questions were received:

Page 7



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

a. The Chair asked if the police had experienced any other problems on
that stretch of road. Derek responded that they had received several
calls, since the premises began operating with Mr Taulant Kojnozi as
the licence holder. On the 30th and 31st December 2022 at 10:19pm
and 01:47am, they received reports from members of the public of a
noise nuisance emanating from the premises; and on 11th December
2022 the premises were visited by the local authority and there were
clear breaches of smoke free regulations. Ellie Green added that there
were no temporary event notices on those dates, or indeed any others,
that would permit loud music that late at night.

b. Cllr Bedekova queried on how many occasions the premises had
applied for a temporary event notice, to which Ellie Green confirmed
they had never applied for one, thus their licence did not cover playing
any loud music beyond 23:00.

c. The Chair asked how many temporary event notices a premises was
allowed to apply for in a year. Ellie Green replied that they were
allowed 21 events covering 26 days, with one event notice being able
to cover up to 7 days.

8. Cllr Doug Taylor, Ward Councillor, representing IP1, made the following
statement:

a. Cllr Taylor emphasised that IP1’s concerns were reflected in those of
the Licensing Authority and the Police, regarding the prevention of
crime, disorder and public nuisance, expressed on pages 62 and 64 of
the agenda report pack, which drew out the issues.

b. Cllr Taylor also pointed out page 33, which detailed the decision of the
sub-committee regarding the licence holders previous/ original
application, which reflected the concerns at the time, and that these
concerns still remain now.

9. In response, the following comments and questions were received:

a. Cllr Bedekova asked if Cllr Taylor had received any other complaints
from residents as a Ward Councillor, to which Cllr Taylor advised he
had not since August, and was just representing IP1.

b. Arlene auf der Mauer queried why residents did not raise their
concerns with Mr Taulant Kojnozi. Cllr Bedekova advised that residents
often went to the Local Authority to make a complaint about a premises
as opposed to the owner and that this was common/ reasonable
practice. Cllr Taylor responded that in general terms residents were
sometimes concerned about conflict created by direct interventions,
and it was not unusual for residents to approach the Council, hence the
Licensing Authority anonymise names and addresses as standard
practice, as they recognise and understand these concerns. He asked
given the nature of the issues, to what extent has the applicant made

Page 8



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

attempts to engage with residents about the issues in a proactive way, 
rather than just being reactive.  

c. Cllr Bedekova enquired if Cllr Taylor had received complaints from
residents as a Ward Councillor about any of the ongoing issues
discussed since August. Cllr Taylor advised that since August and the
previous committee meeting to discuss the premises, he had not been
contacted specifically about further concerns.

10. The following closing summaries/ points were made:

a. Ellie Green took the committee through the various options available to
them when deciding on the outcome of the application.

b. Victor Ktorakis highlighted that with regards to the operating times of
other premises in the area; Starfish and Coffee, while permitted on the
licence to remain open until 01:30 am, were very rarely open until those
hours, and just used them for ad hoc events, so that they did not have
to apply for temporary event notices as often. Victor made clear that
the other premises closing this late were restaurants, not bars, and
operated in very different ways.

c. Cllr Taylor highlighted that if the committee were minded to extend the
hours, IP1 had asked that this be restricted to the weekend nights only.

The Chair thanked everyone for their time and adjourned the meeting whilst 
the committee went away to deliberate. Derek Ewart, Police Constable, 
informed the committee that he would not be able to return/ attend to hear the 
committee’s decision. The Panel retired, with the legal representative and 
committee administrator, to consider the application further, and then the 
meeting reconvened in public.  

RESOLVED that:  

The Licensing Sub-Committee RESOLVED that the application be REFUSED. 

The Chair made the following statement: 

“After considering the application and hearing the evidence of the parties in 
this hearing, the Licensing Sub-Committee are not persuaded to extend the 
proposed hours because of the impact on the local community, potential 
impact of crime and disorder in the area, noise pollution, preventing the 
residents from enjoying the amenities of their home, and the premises licence 
holder is breaching the Health Act 2006 by allowing smoking. 

The Licensing Sub-Committee do not object to the changing of the name of 
the premises to Troy’s Lounge.” 

Additionally, the Chair advised that: 

Page 9



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 3.5.2023 

‘It would be helpful if the applicant abide with the present licensing objectives 
and the law of Health and Safety Act 2006 is adhered to. 

The Licensing Sub-Committee was concerned to hear that events took place 
without a temporary events licence, and therefore it would be in the best 
interest of the applicant to apply for one accordingly, if needed in the future.  

It would also be helpful if there was clarity with the status of the Designated 
Premises Supervisor, and that they were on site, as to the premise 
concerned.’ 

The Chair thanked everyone for their time and brought the meeting to a close 
at 12:03.  

Page 10



MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023/24 REPORT NO.  
 
 

Agenda - Part 
 

Item 
 

COMMITTEE : 
Licensing Sub-Committee 
26 July 2023 
 
REPORT OF : 
Ellie Green, Licensing Team Manager 
 
LEGISLATION : 
Licensing Act 2003 

SUBJECT : 
Review Application 
 
PREMISES : 
Maxi Food & Wine (also known as Happy Food), 
38 Chase Side, Southgate, N14 5PA 
 
WARD : 
Southgate 

 
 
 
1 LICENSING HISTORY & CURRENT POSITION - LN/200600265: 

 
 

1.1 The premises has been previously known as Station Stores, and Royal News 
before being named Maxi Food & Wine. 
 

1.2 On 23 June 2006, a new premises licence application which was not subject 
to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated 
powers, naming Mr Kandasamy Nirmalan as the Premises Licence Holder 
(PLH) and also as the Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS). 

 
1.3 On 27 May 2011, a transfer application which was not subject to any 

representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated 
powers, naming Mr Gurdeep Singh Kahlon as the Premises Licence Holder 
(PLH), and also became the DPS.  

 
1.4 On 6 September 2021, a transfer application which was not subject to any 

representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated 
powers, naming Mr Dervis Altun as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and 
also became the DPS.  

 
1.5 On 12 May 2021, Mr Dervis Altun surrendered premises licence 

LN/200600265, as he stated he had not been owner of this premises for 
some time. 

 
1.6 On 7 June 2021, a transfer application which was not subject to any 

representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated 
powers, naming Mrs Aylin Yengin as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), 
and also became the DPS. The transfer application was permitted as it was 
submitted within the timeframe permitted by the Act to transfer a surrendered 
premises licence. It is now known that Mrs Aylin Yengin is the wife of Mr 
Kemal Altun. 
 

1.7 On 26 October 2022, Trading Standards submitted a review of premises 
licence LN/200600265. The review application was been submitted as 
Trading Standards believes that Mrs Aylin Yengin was not promoting the 
prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective. A wide range of 
unlawful activity had taken place whilst Mrs Aylin Yengin had been the 

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



premises licence holder, despite advice to prevent such activity having been 
provided by the Council previously. The unlawful activity includes: 
• illicit tobacco has been seized from the premises; 
• breaches of licence conditions; 
• selling non-compliant vapes and e-cigarettes; 
• selling Viagra and Sildenafil without a medical registration from MHRA; 
• selling drug paraphernalia;  
• selling nitrous oxide (known as NOx). 

 
1.8 On Monday 12 December 2022, a transfer and vary DPS application was  

submitted to the Licensing Team, naming Ms Nuray Ozdemir as both the new 
premises licence holder and DPS. It is now known that Ms Ozdemir is the sister 
of Mr Kemal Altun. 
 

1.9 The Licensing Sub-Committee determined the review application at a hearing on 
4 January 2023, and the decision was made to suspend the licence for 3 
months, and to modify the conditions. 

 
1.10 The link to the full licensing sub-committee report for the review application, 

decision and minutes can be found on the council website here: 
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=217&MId=14480&
Ver=4  

 
1.11 A copy of the decision notice is attached as Annex A. 
 
1.12 Later on 4 January 2023, the transfer and vary DPS application which were not 

subject to any representations, were granted by officers in accordance with 
delegated powers, naming Ms Nuray Ozdemir as the Premises Licence Holder 
(PLH), and also the DPS.  

 
1.13 All premises licences are due to pay an annual fee. At the time of preparing this 

report, the premises licence LN/200600265  annual fee was overdue since 27 
June 2023, despite a reminder being sent on 1 May 2023. In accordance with 
Section 55A of the Licensing Act 2003, there is a 21-day grace period. If the 
annual fee, is still not paid, then a notice of suspension will be issued and then 
the licence suspended at least two working days after this. Suspension of 
premises licences are only lifted once all annual fee payments are up to date.  
 

1.14 The current premises licence LN/200600265 permits: 

1.14.1 The hours the premises are open to the public: 06:30 to 23:00 daily.  
 
1.14.2  Supply of alcohol (off supplies only): 06:30 to 23:00 daily. 
 
1.15 A copy of the current premises licence LN/200600265 is attached as Annex B.  
 
1.16 Enfield Licensing Team were made aware of a premises licence review in the 

London Borough of Haringey, which have links to between persons at Maxxi 
Food & Wine 42 Topsfield Parade, London, N8 (Haringey) and this premises, 
Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase Side. On 30 May 2023, the Licensing Sub-
Committee in Haringey resolved to revoke the premises licence of Maxxi Food & 
Wine 42 Topsfield Parade, London, N8. The full Licensing Sub-Committee report 
and full decision notice can be found on the Haringey Council website here: 

Page 12

https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=217&MId=14480&Ver=4
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=217&MId=14480&Ver=4


https://www.minutes.haringey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1022&MId=102
94&Ver=4  

 
 
2.0  THIS APPLICATION: 
 
2.1  On 30 May 2023 an application was made by Enfield Council’s Licensing 

Authority for the review of Premises Licence LN/200600265 and is produced in 
Annex C.  

 
2.2   Additional Information was provided by the Licensing Authority to further support 

their representation and a copy is produced in Annex D. 
 
2.3   The review application has been submitted as the Licensing Authority believes 

the four licensing objectives are being undermined as the following unlawful 
activity is taking place at/from the premises: 

• sales of nitrous oxide are still being recklessly made from the premises, despite 
this being conditioned on the premises licence.  

• breaches of licence conditions; 
• selling non-compliant vapes and e-cigarettes; 
• and that Ms Ozdemir is not actively running the business as expected as the 

role of premises licence holder. 
 

2.5   The review application seeks to revoke the premises licence in its entirety. 
 

2.6  The review application was advertised in accordance with the requirements of 
the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
2.7   Each of the Responsible Authorities were consulted in respect of the application. 
 

 
 

3.0  RELEVANT REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
3.1    Metropolitan Police – Representation was made in support the review as the 

Police do not believe that any of the four licensing objectives are being upheld. A 
copy of the Police representation can be seen in Annex E. 

 
3.2    Other Parties – Representation was made by a Southgate ward councillor, in 

support the review, in that they do not believe any of the four licensing objectives 
are being upheld. A copy of this representation can be seen in Annex F. 

 
3.3    Premises Licence Holder – No representation has been made by Ms Ozdemir 

in response to this review application at the time the report was prepared. 
 
 
4.0  PROPOSED LICENCE CONDITIONS: 
 
4.1  A modification to Condition 16 has been proposed as follows, through this review 

process.  
 
Current Condition 16:  
No Nitrous oxide (laughing gas) should be stored or sold to consumers. 
 

Page 13

https://www.minutes.haringey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1022&MId=10294&Ver=4
https://www.minutes.haringey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1022&MId=10294&Ver=4


Seeks amending to:  
Nitrous oxide (laughing gas) shall not be stored or sold to consumers from the 
premises, or any vehicles or storerooms associated with the premises.  
 
4.2 Ms Ozdemir has not indicated any indication to this amended condition. 
 
 
5.0 RELEVANT LAW, GUIDANCE & POLICIES: 
 
5.1 The paragraphs below are extracted from either : 

5.1.1 the Licensing Act 2003 (‘Act’); or 

5.1.2 the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State to the Home Office of April 
2018 (‘Guid’); or 

5.1.3 the London Borough of Enfield’s Licensing Policy Statement of January 
2020 (‘Pol’). 

 
 General Principles : 
 
5.2 The Licensing Sub-Committee must carry out its functions with a view to promoting 

the licensing objectives [Act s.4(1)]. 
 
5.3The licensing objectives are : 

5.3.1 the prevention of crime and disorder; 

5.3.2 public safety; 

5.3.3the prevention of public nuisance; & 

5.3.4the protection of children from harm [Act s.4(2)]. 
 
5.4 In carrying out its functions, the Sub-Committee must also have regard to : 

5.4.1 the Council’s licensing policy statement; & 

5.4.2 guidance issued by the Secretary of State [Act s.4(3)]. 
 
 

Review:  
 
5.5 In reviewing a licence the Licensing Sub-Committee will consider, and take into 

account, the complaints history of the premises and all other relevant information 
[Pol s.10.3].  

 
5.6 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly 

connected with licensable activities, for example the sale of contraband goods. 
The Sub-Committee does not have the power to judge the criminality or 
otherwise of any issue. The Sub-Committee’s role is to ensure the promotion of 
the crime prevention objective [Guid s.11.24].  

 
5.7 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed 

premises which should be treated particularly seriously. These include the use of 

Page 14



the premises for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol [Guid 
s.11.27].  

 
5.8 Where reviews arise in respect of these criminal activities and the Sub-Committee 

determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined, it is 
expected that revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be 
seriously considered [Guid s.11.28]. 

 
 
Nitrous Oxide: 

 
5.9 See the review application for the legal background on the sale and consumption     
      of nitrous oxide. 
 

Decision: 
 

5.10 Having heard all of the representations (from all parties) the Licensing Sub-
Committee must take such steps as it considers appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives. The steps are :  

5.10.1 to modify the conditions of the licence; 

5.10.2 to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence; 

5.10.3 to remove the designated premises supervisor 

5.10.4 to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 

5.10.5 to revoke the licence [Act s.52]. 
 
5.11 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, the Sub-Committee should so far as 
possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns which the 
representations identify. The remedial action taken should generally be directed at 
these causes and should generally be directed at those causes and should always be 
no more than an appropriate and proportionate response to address the causes of 
concern that instigated the review.  [Guid s.11.20]. 
 
 
Background Papers :  
None other than any identified within the 
report.  
 
Contact Officer :  
Ellie Green on 0208 1322 128 

 

 

Page 15



LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD LICENSING AUTHORITY 
LICENSING ACT 2003 (HEARINGS) REGULATIONS 2005 
DECISION NOTICE 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE – 4 JANUARY 2023 

Application was made by TRADING STANDARDS for a review of the Premises Licence 
(LN/200800580) held by MS NURAY OZDEMIR at the premises known as and situated at 
MAXI FOOD & WINE, 38 CHASE SIDE, SOUTHGATE, N14 5PA. 

The Licensing Sub-Committee RESOLVED that it considers the steps listed below to be 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives:  
(a) to modify the conditions of the licence in accordance with Annex A attached to

this Decision Notice;
AND

(b) to suspend the licence for a period of three months.

Reasons: 

The Chair made the following statement: 

“ This Licensing Sub Committee (LSC) have read and considered all the information put 
before them and attentively listened to all the points made by each party. 

Given the seriousness of the allegations the Committee were at first minded to consider 
revocation of the premises licence. 

The LSC have been told this is a family run business and it is concerning that those who 
were previously involved in the failures outlined in the review are still involved. 

However, their advocate (Mr Sutherland of RDS Law) has made it very clear that the 
families involved in the business acknowledge their previous failures. They want to do 
better in the future and have now employed consultants (Atlas Licensing Consultants), 
who have trained them and put in place a proper manual, a training system and will be 
undertaking test purchases in future to ensure staff are using their policies appropriately. 

Nevertheless, the wrongdoing discovered was so serious that despite the acknowledged 
changes the LSC feel that anything short of a 3-month suspension would be inadequate. 

The LSC anticipate that the Local Authority will be undertaking checks to ensure the 
business is now promoting the licensing objectives. The LSC will be very disappointed if 
this business should be back before them because further failures have been discovered. 

Date Notice Sent : 4 January 2023 

Signed :        
Esther Hughes, Head of Service Consumer Protection & Waste Enforcement on 
behalf of Principal Licensing Officer 

Annex APage 16



 
 

APPEAL 
 
Under the Licensing Act 2003 you have a right of appeal against this decision within 21 
days of receiving this notice. Any appeal should be made in writing to the North London 
Magistrates Court at the following address : 

North London Magistrates Court 
Highbury Corner, 51 Holloway Road, London, N7 8JA 

 
 

Page 17



Annex A 
 
Conditions Arising from the Licensing Sub-Committee Hearing of the Review 

Application for Maxi Food & Wine on 4/1/23 
 
Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions 
 
The Mandatory Conditions are attached and form part of the Operating Schedule of 
your licence/certificate. You must ensure that the operation of the licensed premises 
complies with the attached Mandatory Conditions as well as the Conditions in Annex 
2 and Annex 3 (if applicable). Failure to do this can lead to prosecution or review of 
the licence. 
 
Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule 
 
1. There shall be no adult entertainment or services, activities or matters ancillary to 
the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children. 
 
2. Alcohol shall be securely stored, locked away from other stock with limited key 
access. 
 
3. Youths shall be discouraged from loitering outside the premises. 
 
4. A Central Station Alarm system shall be installed, operated and maintained at the 
premises. The system shall comply with EU50131 and shall include a panic button 
facility. 
 
5. Unaccompanied children under 14 are not allowed to enter the premises after 
21:00. 
 
6. A prominent, clear and legible notice shall be displayed at the exit requesting the 
public to respect the needs of local residents and to leave the premises and the area 
quietly. 
 
Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the Licensing Authority. 
 
7. Non-duty paid tobacco or alcohol must not be stored or sold from the premises or 
from any motor-vehicle. 
 
8. A 'Think 25' proof of age scheme shall be operated, and relevant material shall be 
displayed at the premises. 
 
9. A written record of refused sales shall be kept on the premises and completed 
when necessary. This record shall be made available to Police and/or the Local 
Authority upon request and shall be kept for at least one year from the date of the 
last entry. 
 
10. Signs shall be prominently displayed on the exit doors advising customers that 
the premises is in a Public Space Protection Order Area (or similar) and that alcohol 
should not be taken off the premises and consumed in the street. These notices shall 

Page 18



be positioned at eye level and in a location where they can be read by those leaving 
the premises. 
 
11. Only the Premises Licence Holder or Designated Premises Supervisor shall 
purchase alcohol and / or tobacco stock. 
 
12. Alcohol and tobacco stock shall only be purchased from registered wholesalers. 
 
13. The premises licence holder shall ensure that all receipts for goods bought are 
kept together in a file or folder as evidence that they have been brought into the UK 
through legal channels. Receipts shall show the following details: 
(a) Seller's name and address; 
(b) Seller's company details, if applicable; 
(c) Seller's VAT details, if applicable. 
Copies of these documents shall be retained for no less than 12 months and shall be 
made available to police or authorised officers of the council on request within five 
working days of the request. The most recent three months’ worth of receipts shall 
be kept on the premises and made available to the police or authorised officers of 
the council on request. 
 
14. All tobacco products that are not on the tobacco display shall be stored in a 
container clearly marked ‘Tobacco Stock’. This container shall be kept within the 
storeroom or behind the sales counter. 
 
15. Tobacco products shall only be taken from the tobacco display behind the sales 
counter to make a sale. 
 
16. No Nitrous oxide (laughing gas) should be stored or sold to consumers.  
 
17. All staff shall be trained, and re-trained every six months, with regard to the sale 
of alcohol, smuggled goods, drugs and the promotion of the licensing objectives. A 
record of all such training must be kept for at least 24 months. 
 
18. A CCTV system shall be installed, operated and maintained at the premises. The 
system shall conform to the Data Protection Act guidelines. Cameras shall monitor 
the front entrance doors, till area, alcohol displays and the outside of the premises. 
The time and date shall be generated onto recordings, which shall be of a quality to 
satisfy the Police and which shall be retained for a minimum of 31 days. At all times 
there shall be at the premises a member of staff who can operate the CCTV system 
and provide any copies of the CCTV footage when lawfully requested. 
 
19. All members of staff are required to hold a personal licence. 
 

Page 19



Licensing Act 2003

PART A – PREMISES LICENCE

Granted by the London Borough of Enfield as Licensing Authority

Premises Licence Number: LN/200600265

Part 1 – Premises Details

Premises Name and 
Address:

Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase Side, LONDON, N14 5PA

Where the licence is time-limited, the 
dates:

Maximum number of persons 
permitted on the premises 
where the capacity is 5,000 or 
more. 

The opening hours of the premises, the licensable activities authorised by the licence 
and the times the licence authorises the carrying out of those activities:

Operating Schedule Details 

Location Whole Premises
Activity Open to the Public
Sunday 06:30-23:00
Monday 06:30-23:00
Tuesday 06:30-23:00
Wednesday 06:30-23:00
Thursday 06:30-23:00
Friday 06:30-23:00
Saturday 06:30-23:00
Non-Standard Timings & Seasonal 
Variations

Location Off Supply
Activity Supply of Alcohol
Sunday 06:30-23:00
Monday 06:30-23:00
Tuesday 06:30-23:00
Wednesday 06:30-23:00
Thursday 06:30-23:00
Friday 06:30-23:00
Saturday 06:30-23:00

Annex B
Page 20



Non-Standard Timings & Seasonal 
Variations

Page 21



Part 2

Name and (registered) address of holder(s) of premises licence:

Name: Ms Nuray Ozdemir

Address:

Registered number of 
holder (if applicable):

Not applicable

Name and address of designated premises supervisor (where the licence authorises 
the supply of alcohol):

Name: Ms Nuray Ozdemir

Address:

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated 
premises supervisor (where the licence authorises the supply of alcohol):

Personal Licence Number:

Issuing Authority: London Borough of Haringey

Signed:                         Date: 5 January 2023    

 
for and on behalf of the
London Borough of Enfield
Licensing Team, 
Civic Centre, Silver Street, 
Enfield EN1 3XY

Page 22



Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions

The Mandatory Conditions are attached and form part of the Operating 
Schedule of your licence/certificate. You must ensure that the operation of the 
licensed premises complies with the attached Mandatory Conditions as well as 
the Conditions in Annex 2 and Annex 3 (if applicable). Failure to do this can 
lead to prosecution or review of the licence.

Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule

1. There shall be no adult entertainment or services, activities or matters 
ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of 
children.

2. Alcohol shall be securely stored, locked away from other stock with limited 
key access.

3. Youths shall be discouraged from loitering outside the premises.

4. A Central Station Alarm system shall be installed, operated and maintained 
at the premises. The system shall comply with EU50131 and shall include a 
panic button facility.

5. Unaccompanied children under 14 are not allowed to enter the premises 
after 21:00.

6. A prominent, clear and legible notice shall be displayed at the exit 
requesting the public to respect the needs of local residents and to leave the 
premises and the area quietly.

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the Licensing Authority.

7. Non-duty paid tobacco or alcohol must not be stored or sold from the 
premises or from any motor-vehicle.

8. A 'Think 25' proof of age scheme shall be operated, and relevant material 
shall be displayed at the premises.

9. A written record of refused sales shall be kept on the premises and 
completed when necessary. This record shall be made available to Police 
and/or the Local Authority upon request and shall be kept for at least one year 
from the date of the last entry.

10. Signs shall be prominently displayed on the exit doors advising customers 
that the premises is in a Public Space Protection Order Area (or similar) and 
that alcohol should not be taken off the premises and consumed in the street. 
These notices shall be positioned at eye level and in a location where they can 
be read by those leaving the premises.

11. Only the Premises Licence Holder or Designated Premises Supervisor shall

Page 23



purchase alcohol and / or tobacco stock.

12. Alcohol and tobacco stock shall only be purchased from registered 
wholesalers.

13. The premises licence holder shall ensure that all receipts for goods bought 
are kept together in a file or folder as evidence that they have been brought 
into the UK through legal channels. Receipts shall show the following details:
(a) Seller's name and address;
(b) Seller's company details, if applicable;
(c) Seller's VAT details, if applicable.
Copies of these documents shall be retained for no less than 12 months and 
shall be made available to police or authorised officers of the council on 
request within five working days of the request. The most recent three months’ 
worth of receipts shall be kept on the premises and made available to the 
police or authorised officers of the council on request.

14. All tobacco products that are not on the tobacco display shall be stored in 
a container clearly marked ‘Tobacco Stock’. This container shall be kept within 
the storeroom or behind the sales counter.

15. Tobacco products shall only be taken from the tobacco display behind the 
sales counter to make a sale.

16. No Nitrous oxide (laughing gas) should be stored or sold to consumers. 

17. All staff shall be trained, and re-trained every six months, with regard to the 
sale of alcohol, smuggled goods, drugs and the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. A record of all such training must be kept for at least 24 months.

18. A CCTV system shall be installed, operated and maintained at the 
premises. The system shall conform to the Data Protection Act guidelines. 
Cameras shall monitor the front entrance doors, till area, alcohol displays and 
the outside of the premises. The time and date shall be generated onto 
recordings, which shall be of a quality to satisfy the Police and which shall be 
retained for a minimum of 31 days. At all times there shall be at the premises a 
member of staff who can operate the CCTV system and provide any copies of 
the CCTV footage when lawfully requested.

19. All members of staff are required to hold a personal licence.

Page 24



 
Annex 4 – Plans

Page 25



Annex 1 – Mandatory Conditions

Mandatory conditions where the licence authorises the sale of alcohol
(Note: Conditions 4, 5, and 7 relate to on-sales only)

These Mandatory Conditions form part of the Operating Schedule of your licence. You 
must ensure that the operation of the licensed premises complies with these 
Mandatory Conditions, as well as the Conditions stated in Annex 2 and Annex 3 (if 
applicable). Failure to do this can lead to prosecution or review of the licence.

1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises 
supervisor in respect of this licence.

2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor 
does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended.

3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who 
holds a personal licence.

4. (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, 
arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.
(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following 
activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale 
or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises
(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or 
encourage, individuals to;
(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied 
on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is 
authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or
(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);
(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted 
fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries 
a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or 
reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a 
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the 
vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or 
glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable 
manner;
(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where 
that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a disability).

5. The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 
customers where it is reasonably available.

6. (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an 
age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply 
of alcohol.
(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that 
the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification 
policy.
(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 
years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, 
before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either -

Page 26



(a) a holographic mark, or
(b) an ultraviolet feature.

7. The responsible person must ensure that –
(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the 
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance 
ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the 
following measures -
(i) beer or cider: ½ pint;
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;
(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is 
available to customers on the premises; and
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol 
to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise 
licence in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any 
individual aged 18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated 
premises supervisor. For premises with a club premises certificate, any member or officer of 
the club present on the premises in a capacity that which enables him to prevent the supply 
of alcohol.

8 (i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or 
off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.
(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above -
(a) "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;
(b) "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula -
P = D+(DxV)
Where -
(i) P is the permitted price,
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged 
on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value added 
tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;
(c) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
premises licence -
(i) the holder of the premises licence,
(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a 
licence;
(d) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a 
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and
(e) "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added 
Tax Act 1994.
(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this 
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall 
be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest 
penny.
(iv). (1) Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph 
8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the 
next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax.
(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of 
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second 
day.

Page 27



Supply of alcohol under a Club Premises Certificate
The mandatory conditions 4 to 8 above will apply. If the club premises certificate authorises 
the supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises, the following three mandatory 
conditions must also be included:
1. The supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be made at a time when the 
premises are open for the purposes of supplying alcohol to members of the club for 
consumption on the premises.
2. Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be in a sealed container.
3. Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be made to a member of the 
club in person.

Supply of alcohol from community premises
The following mandatory condition will replace the first three mandatory conditions above 
when an application is made for a premises licence by the management committee of 
community premises and the licensing authority also grants an application for this alternative 
licence condition to be included in the licence:
1. Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by the 
[management committee / management board / board of trustees].

Mandatory condition when a premises licence or a club premises certificate 
authorises the exhibition of films
9. Admission of children to the premises must be restricted in accordance with the film 
classification recommended by the British Board of Film Classification or recommended by 
this licensing authority as appropriate.

Mandatory Condition relating to door supervision which only applies where a 
premises licence includes a condition that one or more individuals must be at the 
premises to carry out a security activity
10. All persons guarding premises against unauthorised access or occupation or against 
outbreaks of disorder or against damage (door supervisors) must be licensed by the Security 
Industry Authority.

Page 28



Part 2 - Applicant details 

I am 
Please tick  
yes 

1) an individual, body or business which is not a responsible
authority (please read guidance note 1, and complete (A)
or (B) below)

London Borough of Enfield  

Application for the Review of a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST 

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the 
form.  If you are completing this form by hand please write legibly in block 
capitals. In all cases ensure that your answers are inside the boxes and 
written in black ink. Use additional sheets if necessary.  You may wish to keep 
a copy of the completed form for your records.  

I Charlotte Palmer, Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer 
  (Insert name of applicant) 

apply for the review of a premises licence under section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 
for the premises described in Part 1 below 

Part 1 – Premises or club premises details  
Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference 
or description 

Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase Side 

Post town  

Southgate 

Post code (if known) 

N14 5PA 

Name of premises licence holder or club holding club premises 
certificate (if known) 

Ms Nuray Ozdemir 

Number of premises licence or club premises certificate (if known) 

LN/200600265 

Annex CPage 29



 
2) a responsible authority (please complete (C) below) X 
 
3) a member of the club to which this application relates  
(please complete (A) below) 

    

 
(A) DETAILS OF INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (fill in as applicable) 
 
Please tick  yes 
 
Mr  Mrs  Miss  Ms  Other 

title 
      

 (for example, Rev) 
 
Surname  First names 
   

  Please tick  yes 
I am 18 years old or over 
 

 
 
Current 
postal  
address if  
different 
from 
premises 
address 

 

 Post town  Post Code  

 Daytime contact telephone number       
 E-mail address   

 
(B)  DETAILS OF OTHER APPLICANT 
 
Name and address 
      

Telephone number (if any) 
      
E-mail address       

Page 30



 (C)  DETAILS OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY APPLICANT 
 
 Name and address 
 
Charlotte Palmer, Licensing Team 
B Block South, Civic Centre, Silver Street, Enfield, EN1 3XA 
 
Telephone number (if any):  0208 132 2004 
      
E-mail address:   charlotte.palmer@enfield.gov.uk 

 
This application to review relates to the following licensing objective(s) 
 
 Please tick one or more 

boxes  
1) the prevention of crime and disorder 

 
X 

2) public safety 
 

X 

3) the prevention of public nuisance 
 

X 

4) the protection of children from harm 
 

X 

Page 31



Please state the ground(s) for review (please read guidance note 2) 
 
Enfield Licensing Authority is seeking a review of this premises licence on the 
grounds that the premises has been found to be selling nitrous oxide.  This is despite 
the fact that a condition was added to the licence at a premises licence review 
hearing on 4th January 2023 stating ‘No nitrous oxide (laughing gas) should be stored 
or sold to consumers’.  As well as allegedly breaching this licence condition and some 
other conditions, the Licensing Authority believes that the premises is selling nitrous 
oxide to customers recklessly.  This recklessness is in the form of failing to carry out 
any due diligence checks to ascertain whether the psychoactive substance is likely to 
be consumed by the person to whom it is supplied for its psychoactive effects.  
 
The premises has also been found to be selling vapes and tobacco products that do 
not comply with the legal requirements. 
 
The Licensing Authority does not believe that the named Premises Licence Holder, 
who is also the Designated Premises Supervisor works at or has control over the 
premises.    
 
This review is based on all four of the licensing objectives.  
 
The review application is to revoke the premises licence in its entirety. 
 
What is Nitrous Oxide? 
 
Nitrous oxide (N2O) is a colourless sweet-tasting gas often referred to as ‘laughing 
gas’.   
 
Nitrous oxide has several legitimate uses in medicine, dentistry and also in the 
catering industry.  It is most commonly found in pressurised metal canisters often 
known as ‘cream chargers’ and used for producing whipped cream.  In order to inhale 
the gas the canister is opened and the gas transferred into a container (usually a 
balloon).  The gas is then inhaled from the container/balloon.  Inhaling nitrous oxide 
directly from the canister is very dangerous as the gas is under high pressure and the 
user could stop breathing if there were to do this.  Shops that sell nitrous oxide for 
recreational use therefore often also sell packets of balloons. 

FRANK (a national anti-drug advisory service jointly established by the Department of 
Health and Home Office) lists the following physical health risks of inhaling nitrous 
oxide: 

• It is very dangerous to inhale nitrous oxide directly from the canister, and 
doing it in an enclosed space is also very dangerous. 

• Never place a plastic bag over your head. 
• If you take too much nitrous oxide you risk falling unconscious and/or 

suffocating from the lack of oxygen. People have died this way. 
• Dizziness, which might make you act carelessly or dangerously. 
• Heavy regular use of nitrous oxide can lead to a deficiency of vitamin B12 and 

to a form of anaemia. Severe B12 deficiency can lead to serious nerve 
damage, causing tingling and numbness in the fingers and toes. This can be 
very painful and make walking difficult. It can even lead to paralysis, and the 
damage may be lasting. 

• Regular use can stop you forming white blood cells properly. 
 

Page 32



 
• It can be hard to judge the amount to use safely. If you have too much you 

can end up fainting, having an accident or worse. 
(https://www.talktofrank.com/drug/nitrous-oxide?a=Nitrous%20oxide#the-risks) 
 
Figures from the Office of National Statistics state that on average five people a year 
die after inhaling nitrous oxide and it caused 25 fatalities between 2010 and 2016,. 
(Reference: https://www.theguardian.com/society/nitrous-oxide-laughing-gas, 21st 
May 2019)  
 
This demonstrates how the sale of nitrous oxide for recreational purposes 
undermines the Public Safety licensing objective. 
 
Although nitrous oxide can be sold legally when sold for a legitimate use, the supply, 
or offer to supply or possession with intent to supply for recreational misuse is an 
offence.  
 
The Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 came into force in May 2016.  The act bans 
psychoactive substances, also known as ‘legal highs’, in the UK and prevents the 
supply of these previously unregulated and frequently harmful substances for human 
consumption. 
 
The supply and offer to supply offences (section 5 of the act) are the most relevant 
parts of the act for retailers. The offence of supply is outlined below: 
 
• A person intentionally supplies a substance to another person 
• The substance is a psychoactive substance 
• The person knows or suspects, or ought to know or suspect, that the substance is 

a psychoactive substance 
• The retailer knows or is reckless about whether the psychoactive substance is 

likely to be consumed by the person to whom it is supplied, or by some other 
person, for its psychoactive effects 

 
The use of nitrous oxide is often associated with antisocial behaviour.  There are also 
concerns about the effects of people inhaling nitrous oxide and then driving.   
 
The Government Anti-Social Behaviour Action Plan is due to come into force in 2024 
with the aim of cracking down on anti-social behaviour.  A press release dated 
26/03/23 states: 
 
Under the zero-tolerance approach, Nitrous oxide or “laughing gas” will also be 
banned to send a clear message to intimidating gangs, that hang around high streets 
and children’s parks and litter them with empty canisters, they will not get away with 
this behaviour. The drug is now the third most used among 16 to 24-year-olds in 
England and both the police and public have repeatedly reported links between use 
of the drug and nuisance or anti-social behaviour. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/action-plan-to-crack-down-on-anti-social-
behaviour  
 
This demonstrates how the sale of nitrous oxide for recreational purposes 
undermines the Prevention of Crime and Disorder licensing objective and the 
Prevention of Public Nuisance licensing objective. 
  
 

Page 33

https://www.talktofrank.com/drug/nitrous-oxide?a=Nitrous%20oxide#the-risks
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/action-plan-to-crack-down-on-anti-social-behaviour
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/action-plan-to-crack-down-on-anti-social-behaviour


 
Please provide as much information as possible to support the application 
(please read guidance note 3) 
 
Premises Licence LN/200600265 – Background History: 
 
The licence currently permits the following activities:  
 
Licensable Activity  Times 
Opening Hours 06:00 – 23:00 everyday 
Sale of Alcohol (off sales) 06:00 – 23:00 everyday 

 
The current Premises Licence Holder (PLH) and Designated Premises Supervisor 
(DPS) is Ms Nuray Ozdemir.   
 
This premises licence has been reviewed previously by Trading Standards.  That 
application was submitted on 26th October 2022.  Trading Standards did not believe 
that the then Premises Licence Holder - Aylin Yengin was promoting the prevention of 
crime and disorder licensing objective as a wide range of unlawful activity had taken 
place whilst she had been the premises licence holder.  That review application 
sought to have the premises licence revoked in its entirety.  
The application and the associated paperwork can be viewed online via:   
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=14479 
 
A Premises Licence Transfer application and a Vary DPS application were submitted 
during the review process on 12th December 2022.   
 
The review hearing took place on 04/01/23.  The decision notice shows that the 
premises licence was suspended for three months, and additional conditions were 
added to the premises licence including one preventing the premises from selling 
nitrous oxide.  See Appendix 1.    
 
The Premises Licence Transfer application and Vary DPS application were also 
granted on 04/01/23. 
 
The three-month suspension ran from 25 January 2023 until 24 April 2023. 
 
Detailed below are matters that have occurred since the previous review hearing i.e., 
4th January 2023.   
  
10/01/23 – Trading Standards received a complaint regarding discarded nitrous oxide 
cannisters and balloons in Southgate. The complainant submitted a photograph 
which they claimed showed ten discarded nitrous oxide cannisters, all within twenty-
five of Maxi Food & Wine.  See Appendix 2. 
 
25/01/23 – Premises Licence three-month suspension stared.  Licence conditions 
were not enforceable during the licence suspension as the licence was not being 
used.   
 
27/01/23 – A Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) visited the premises to 
ensure alcohol was not being sold.  No alcohol was seen.     
 
15/02/23 – Complaint received alleging waste from the premises is regularly dumped 
on the highway and illegal vapes and tobacco are being sold by the premises.   

Page 34

https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=14479


 
16/02/23 - Trading Standard’s officers visited the premises to investigate the 
allegation of illegal vapes and tobacco and seized: - 
Approx. 264 nicotine pouches/snus 
Approx. 73 non-compliant vapes 
Approx. 102 large cannisters of Fast Gas Nitrous Oxide 
Approx. 840 small silver cream chargers/34 cream dispensers 
The items were seized because they were believed and/or suspected to breach 
product safety legislation and to ensure unsafe goods were removed from the 
marketplace.  
 
When asked about the supply of nitrous oxide, the member of staff in the store said 
they did not sell it but when it was found behind the counter, he said that it was ok to 
sell it to cream/ice cakes. He was asked if there was any more anywhere and he 
replied “no”.  Officers checked the storeroom for vapes and nitrous oxide and found 
empty boxes of nitrous oxide called ‘Fast Gas’ on the shelves to the rear of the stock 
room. Staff were again asked if there was any more nitrous oxide on the premises 
and again said no.  The officers checked the door leading to a lean to which led to a 
garden.  The officers saw another empty box of Fast Gas on the ground. To the right-
hand side of the lean to there were 16 large boxes of Fast Gas. A further large box of 
nitrous oxide was found under the counter. 
 
Whilst the officers were at the premises a member of staff called the owner and 
officers spoke to him on the phone.  The person they spoke to was Kemal Altun and 
he refused to voluntarily sign over the goods for destruction.  The officers explained 
Trading Standards did not need him to agree or accept or voluntarily sign over the 
goods and that they would proceed to seize them under their powers to do so.  
 
See Appendix 3 for photos and seizure notice. The manager Mr Ahmet Karagoz 
refused to sign the seizures notice.  The notices were sent to Mr Altun via post and 
via email. 
 
After further examination by Trading Standards it has been decided that 59 of the 
seized nicotine pouches can be returned to the premises as their labelling is in 
English (to be arranged by Trading Standards).    
 
21/02/23 – A Trading Standards officer wrote to Mr Kemal Altun and invited him to 
attend a Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 interview under caution to discuss 
the alleged offences.  No one attended the interviews.  It is believed the owner of the 
business may have been in Turkey.   
 
29/03/23 – Trading Standards received a complaint alleging that the premises sells 
‘Fast Gas’ nitrous oxide to children as young as 12 years old.   
 
31/03/23 – 23:42 Out of Hours Licensing Enforcement Officers visited the premises to 
see if alcohol was being sold.  No alcohol was seen for sale or on display, full pull-
down shutters still in place.  No noxious oxide canisters seen for sale or outside the 
premises.  
 
04/04/23 - Trading Standards received a complaint alleging that the premises has 
been selling large canisters of nitrous oxide for over a year to consumers for inhaling 
purposes. The complainant went on to allege that since being given a 3-month 
licence suspension the store had increased substantially the illegal sale of large 
canisters of nitrous oxide. The complainant gave details of three vehicles they 

Page 35



claimed nitrous oxide was being stored in and alleged that they had seen at least 100 
boxes of nitrous oxide inside one of the vehicles.  The complainant provided footage 
they had taken.  See Appendix 4. 
 
17/04/23 – Trading Standards received an allegation that this premises supplies "Fast 
Gas" nitrous oxide to children and young adults.  If true, this undermines the 
Protection of Children from Harm licensing objective The complainant supplied 
photos showing at least nine large cannisters of nitrous oxide on the ground in an 
alley opposite the premises along with empty bottles, bits of burst/deflated balloons 
and two cardboard boxes which would have contained nitrous oxide cannisters.  If 
sold by this premises this undermines the Prevention of Public Nuisance licensing 
objective.  See Appendix 5. 
 
20/04/23 – Complainant also claimed the premises use a van to store illegal products, 
for the following reasons.  They claimed that they had twice seen someone go to the 
van take something out in a black plastic bag and enter the premises. 
 
24/04/23 – Trading Standards received a complaint from a different complainant 
alleging that the premises is selling nitrous oxide to children.  This complainant also 
alleged that the nitrous oxide is stored in vans outside the premises. They provided a 
photo of the van containing nitrous oxide on 29/04/23.  See Appendix 6.   
 
24/04/23 – Premises Licence suspension lifted. The condition stating the premises 
cannot sell nitrous oxide became enforceable on this date (they should already not 
have been selling it to anyone under the age of 18 years or to anyone they suspected 
would misuse it). 
 
26/04/23 – Further footage was sent to Trading Standards by one of the 
complainants.  They alleged this was taken on Saturday 22/04/23 at 9:28am.  The 
footage shows two males unloaded boxes of nitrous oxide from a white van.  See 
Appendix 7 for screen shots.   
 
27/04/23 - Trading Standards received a further complainant alleging that this 
premises sells nitrous oxide.  The complainant claimed that several times in the 
evening when walking past this premises they had seen one of the shop keepers 
going to a van that is parked permanently outside, in the van there is a large supply of 
big NO2 canisters. They take a few of the canisters out, put them in a bag and pass 
them over to a customer.  The complainant gave details of and a photo of a blue 
Vauxhall van.  The complainant stated that they are fed up of seeing people walking 
around Chase Side inhaling gas from balloons.  They also stated that they had seen 
people doing this in parked cars before driving off and that the surrounding area is 
littered with the empty canisters. See Appendix 8.  
 
04/05/23 – A Trading Standards Officer phoned the owner of the business Mr Kemal 
Altun and advised him that after careful consideration of the evidence, whilst there 
was enough evidence to consider criminal proceedings, in this instance, Enfield 
Council were issuing a warning letter regarding the non-compliant goods that were 
seized on 16th February 2023. During the telephone conversation, as Company 
Director of Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine- 38 Chase Side N14 5PA and 
owner of the seized Tobacco products, Nitrous Oxide Cannisters, cream dispensers 
and cream chargers Mr Altun agreed to voluntarily surrender i.e., sign over the 
identified non-compliant goods for disposal in accordance with the Consumer 
Protection Act. 
 

Page 36



 
05/05/23 – Trading Standards received a complainant regarding noise from 
youngsters inhaling notorious oxide in the loading bay near this premises.  The 
complainant provided images taken on 04/05/23.  See Appendix 9 for images which 
show the location of the people. 
 
06/05/23 – Trading Standards received a complaint alleging that the complainant had 
witnessed two parents arguing with staff at this premises.  The complaint said the 
parents were accusing the premises of selling nitrous oxide to children and that their 
child has been hospitalised the night before due to this premises selling their 
underage child nitrous oxide.    
 
10/05/23 – Trading Standards sent an email to Mr Kemal Altun.  The email included 
the warning letter, voluntary surrender form and undertakings to Enfield Council not to 
supply and/or store nitrous oxide cannisters.  Also attached to the email was a similar 
undertaking for his wife Aylin Yengin - Business Rates Payer of Maxxi Wine Centre  
495 Hertford Rd to sign. See Appendix 10. 
 
Also, on this day, at the direction of Trading Standards, a council officer entered the 
premises to see if they would be sold nitrous oxide and whether any checks would be 
carried out by staff to see why they wanted to buy it.  The officer entered the 
premises at 11:53am.  There was no one in the premises so the officer called out and 
a male appeared and asked him if he wanted something.  The officer asked for 
nitrous oxide, Nos.  The male did not seem to understand then said ‘no I don’t have’.  
A lady then appeared and asked if she could help.  The officer again asked for nitrous 
oxide.  The female spoke to the male in a foreign language and he went out to a van 
parked directly outside and returned with some nitrous oxide and gave it to the 
woman.  The officer was sold a large cannister of nitrous oxide without question for 
£20.  After the sale the officer took a photo of the male, the nitrous oxide cannister 
and the van.  See Appendix 11.   
 
The Licensing Authority is of the opinion that this sale was reckless.  It is also an 
alleged breach of Condition 16 of the licence which states:  ‘No Nitrous oxide 
(laughing gas) should be stored or sold to consumers.’ 
 
22/05/23 – 11:15 – 11:38 – Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) attended the 
premises with PC Ewart and PC Haynes from the Police Licensing Team to carry out 
a full licence inspection.  There was one member of staff at the premises throughout 
the inspection.  The following conditions were not being complied with: 
Condition 2 – Alcohol shall be securely stored, locked away from other stock with 
limited key access (customers could access alcohol themselves – on hindsight 
officers wondered whether this condition related to a storage area rather than the 
alcohol on display) 
Condition 9 – The member of staff did not know what a refusals book was or that she 
was meant to fill it in when she refused a sale.  She messaged Kemal Altun and he 
told her where it was.  Officer explained to the member of staff how to fill it in.   
Conditions 14 – Tobacco stock was in a box under the counter but the box was not 
labelled ‘Tobacco Stock’. 
Condition 17 – No training records seen.  Staff advised they had not been trained in 
how to complete a refusal book or what ID to accept.  She was aware she had to use 
a Think 25 policy.   
Condition 18 – Unable to check CCTV records for 31 days as staff not sure how to 
use the system.  The time on the monitor was 1 hour slow.   
Condition 19 – When asked the member of staff on duty advised that she was not a 
personal licence holder.  She advised that Mr Ahmet Karagoz normally works with her 

Page 37



but that he had gone out.  His personal licence was up on the wall but he was not 
seen during the inspection.   
When asked the member of staff said that she had worked at the premises for three 
months and she worked from 08:00 -19:00 but the premises was open 24 hours.  The 
name Nuray Ozdemir (PLH/DPS) was not familiar to her, and she advised she had 
never met her.  When asked if Kemal Altun was the boss she said yes.   
Officers checked behind the counter and saw no sign of Nitrous Oxide.  See 
Appendix 12. 
 
Premises Licence Holder / Designated Premises Supervisor - Nuray Ozedmir  
 
Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Dec 2022) 
states: 
 
‘Specification of new designated premises supervisors 
4.61 Every premises licence that authorises the sale of alcohol must specify a DPS. 
This will normally be the person who has been given day to day responsibility for 
running the premises by the premises licence holder’.  
 
The member of staff who was working at the premises on 22/05/23 said they had 
worked there for 3 months and had never met the named PLH/DPS.  The name was 
not familiar to them.  The Licensing Authority does not believe that the named 
PLH/DPS has day to day responsibility for running the premises.   
 
23/05/23 – A search of Companies House shows that the Company Director of Maxxi 
Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine Centre, 38 Chase Side, N14 is Mr Kemal Altun. See 
Appendix 13. 

It is believed the named licence holder may be Mr Altun’s sister.   
 
The previous licence holder/DPS was his wife – Aylin Yengin. 
 
Kemal Altun 
 
Mr Kemal Altun was granted a premises licence for a premises in Enfield in 2006 (495 
Hertford Road).   
 
In 2009 Mr Altun was prosecuted under the Food Safety Act 1990 following the 
seizure of 25 bottles of Spar brand Imperial Vodka containing excessive levels of 
methanol.  Mr Altun was found guilty and ordered to pay a fine and costs.   
 
A minor variation was issued in 2012 to add conditions to his premises licence 
following the discovery of counterfeit alcohol at the premises.   
 
Mr Kemal Altun changed his name by deed poll to Mr Urgur Altun around 2014.  He 
now appears to have reverted back to being known as Kemal Altun although staff 
have previously referred to him as Ali.   
 
Mr Altun’s premises licence for 495 Hertford Road was revoked in 2015 as the 
premises had been found to be selling nonduty paid tobacco and alcohol and licence 
conditions were being breached.   
 
A new person applied for a licence at that premises and a condition was added to the 
new premises licence which said:  
 

Page 38



'Mr Uygar Altun (formally known as Kemal Altun) shall not be involved in any way in 
the operation and / or management of the business or be permitted to work in the 
business in any capacity’.   
 
In 2020 Enfield Council’s Trading Standards submitted a review application in relation 
to the new licence seeking revocation following two seizures of non-duty paid goods 
and breaches of conditions including the one mentioned above.  The licence was 
revoked.   
 
One of the staff spoken to when officers visited the premises was named Aylin 
Yengin.  It has come to light that Aylin Yengin is the wife of Kemal Altun.   
 
Although now unlicensed this premises continues to be a problem for Trading 
Standards.  In February 2022 they seized 68 pouches of illicit hand rolling tobacco 
and 37 packets of cigarettes from the premises. 
 
Mr Aydin Yengin who is believed to be Mr Altuns’ father-in-law applied for a licence at 
the premises in January 2023 and objections were submitted.  The application was 
later withdrawn. 
  
Mr Altun’s wife - Ms Aylin Yengin is still listed as the person who pays the business 
rates for 495 Hertford Road. 
 
Ms Aylin Yengin was the premises licence holder of Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase 
Side, Southgate, N14 5PA when the last review was submitted.   
 
Mr Altun has another premises in Crouch End - Maxxi Food & Wine, 42 Topsfield 
Parade, London, N8.  This premises is also currently subject to a licence review for 
very similar reasons.  The agenda for that Licensing Sub-Committee meeting is 
available through the following link:  
https://www.minutes.haringey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1022&MId=10294&Ver=4 
 
Mr Kemal Altun has a significate history of wrongdoing at licensed premises and had 
he applied to put this licence in his own name it is very likely that objections would 
have been raised.  The Licensing Authority believes this is the reason the 
applications for this premises and other premises owned by him are not submitted in 
his name but those of various family members.   
 
 
Conclusion:  
 
Complaints have been received alleging that this premises sells illegal tobacco/vapes 
and also sells nitrous oxide to members of the public, including children who then 
inhale it in the nearby area leaving litter and causing anti-social behaviour.      
 
Despite the premises having been given advice previously and a condition having 
been added to their licence at a previous review hearing stating that they cannot sell 
nitrous oxide a test purchase resulted in the sale of nitrous oxide without any 
questions being asked.  
 
This sale was made just two weeks after a licence suspension was lifted.  An 
inspection a month after the suspension was lifted showed a failure to comply with 
some other licence conditions.   
 

Page 39

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fprotect-eu.mimecast.com%2Fs%2F6FBzCk7QgSOyjxkt2WzEz%3Fdomain%3Dminutes.haringey.gov.uk&data=05%7C01%7CCharlotte.palmer%40enfield.gov.uk%7C9711ee66cd8246bef30908db5b65ba75%7Ccc18b91d1bb24d9bac767a4447488d49%7C0%7C0%7C638204264688914628%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2Bzc%2FX8drevseNr5R4eQGIEtRJ1xIEEwchry3udxcEaQ%3D&reserved=0


The Licensing Authority is of the opinion that this premises is recklessly selling nitrous 
oxide for recreational use as a psychoactive drug and that this undermines all four 
licensing objectives.  Other illicit products have also been seized.   
 
The Licensing Authority believes that the named PLH/DPS does not run the premises 
and that the premises is controlled by Mr Kemal Altun who has a significant history of 
wrongdoing.   
 
The Licensing Authority has no confidence in the ability or willingness of Mr Altun or 
anyone named on licences he has business connections with to uphold the licensing 
objectives, comply with the licence conditions or trade legally.   
 
No matter how many reviews, prosecution investigations, advice letter or visits take 
place illicit items continue to be found at premises owned by Mr Altun. 
 
The Licensing Authority therefore recommends that the licence be revoked.   
  
If the committee is not minded to revoke the licence then the Licensing Authority 
would recommend that the nitrous oxide condition be amended to:   
 

• Nitrous oxide (laughing gas) shall not be stored or sold to consumers from the 
premises, or any vehicles or storerooms associated with the premises.   

 
 
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to add any additional information to support 
this review application. 
 

 
Please tick  yes  
Have you made an application for review relating to the 
premises before 

 

 
 
If yes please state the date of that application Day Month Year 

                
 

 

 
If you have made representations before relating to the premises please 
state what they were and when you made them 
      
 
Trading Standards have reviewed this licence before but the Licensing Autority 
have not. 
 
 
Please tick  yes 
 

• I have sent copies of this form and enclosures to the 
responsible authorities and the premises licence holder or 
club holding the club premises certificate, as appropriate 

 

• I understand that if I do not comply with the above 
requirements my application will be rejected 

 

Page 40



 
IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, 
TO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS 
APPLICATION. THOSE WHO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT MAY BE 
LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT.   
 
Part 3 – Signatures   (please read guidance note 4) 
 
Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised 
agent (please read guidance note 5). If signing on behalf of the applicant 
please state in what capacity. 
 

Signature  
 
 
Date             31/05/23 
 
Capacity      Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer 
 
 
Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for 
correspondence associated with this application (please read guidance 
note 6) 
      

Post town 
      

Post Code 
      

Telephone number (if any)        
E-mail address        

 
Notes for Guidance  

1. A responsible authority includes the local police, fire and rescue 
authority and other statutory bodies which exercise specific functions in 
the local area. 

2. The ground(s) for review must be based on one of the licensing 
objectives. 

3. Please list any additional information or details for example dates of 
problems which are included in the grounds for review if available. 

4. The application form must be signed. 
5. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their 

behalf provided that they have actual authority to do so. 
6. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about 

this application. 
 

Page 41



LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD LICENSING AUTHORITY 
LICENSING ACT 2003 (HEARINGS) REGULATIONS 2005 
DECISION NOTICE 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE – 4 JANUARY 2023 

Application was made by TRADING STANDARDS for a review of the Premises Licence 
(LN/200800580) held by MS NURAY OZDEMIR at the premises known as and situated at 
MAXI FOOD & WINE, 38 CHASE SIDE, SOUTHGATE, N14 5PA. 

The Licensing Sub-Committee RESOLVED that it considers the steps listed below to be 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives:  
(a) to modify the conditions of the licence in accordance with Annex A attached to

this Decision Notice;
AND

(b) to suspend the licence for a period of three months.

Reasons: 

The Chair made the following statement: 

“ This Licensing Sub Committee (LSC) have read and considered all the information put 
before them and attentively listened to all the points made by each party. 

Given the seriousness of the allegations the Committee were at first minded to consider 
revocation of the premises licence. 

The LSC have been told this is a family run business and it is concerning that those who 
were previously involved in the failures outlined in the review are still involved. 

However, their advocate (Mr Sutherland of RDS Law) has made it very clear that the 
families involved in the business acknowledge their previous failures. They want to do 
better in the future and have now employed consultants (Atlas Licensing Consultants), 
who have trained them and put in place a proper manual, a training system and will be 
undertaking test purchases in future to ensure staff are using their policies appropriately. 

Nevertheless, the wrongdoing discovered was so serious that despite the acknowledged 
changes the LSC feel that anything short of a 3-month suspension would be inadequate. 

The LSC anticipate that the Local Authority will be undertaking checks to ensure the 
business is now promoting the licensing objectives. The LSC will be very disappointed if 
this business should be back before them because further failures have been discovered. 

Date Notice Sent : 4 January 2023 

Signed :        
Esther Hughes, Head of Service Consumer Protection & Waste Enforcement on 
behalf of Principal Licensing Officer 

Appendix 1Page 42



 
 

APPEAL 
 
Under the Licensing Act 2003 you have a right of appeal against this decision within 21 
days of receiving this notice. Any appeal should be made in writing to the North London 
Magistrates Court at the following address : 

North London Magistrates Court 
Highbury Corner, 51 Holloway Road, London, N7 8JA 

 
 

Page 43



Appendix 2
Page 44



Appendix 3Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



 

HT 1 – Vapeman solo product found on and behind the counter 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



HT 2 – picture of counter at start of seizure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



HT 3 – picture of Snuus 

 

 

 

  

Page 53



HT 4 – picture of nitrous oxide outer found behind the counter 

 

  

Page 54



HT 5 box of 24 cream chargers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

 

HT 6 Box of 720 cream chargers 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

HT 7 Box of balloons kept by cream chargers and fast gas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

HT 8  Fast Gas empties outers in stock room  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

HT 9 Fast Gas outer in garden 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

HK 10 Fast Gas found in garden 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

HK 11 Fast Gas found in garden 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



 

HT 12 after seizure 

 

 

Page 62



Appendix 4
Page 63



Appendix 5

Page 64



Appendix 6
Page 65



Appendix 7
Page 66



Page 67



Appendix 8

Page 68



Appendix 9

Page 69



Appendix 10
P

age 70



? 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  

 
Sarah Cary 
Executive Director Place 
Enfield Council 
Civic Centre, Silver Street                       
Enfield EN1 3ES                        

Website: www.enfield.gov.uk 

If you need this document in another language or format contact the service using the details above. 

 

IMPORTANT – Are you Registered to Vote? Do you want to vote by post? Apply early. 
To find out more go to www.gov.uk/register-to-vote 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

 

 

 

 

 

Consumer Protection Act 1987 
Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 
 
Enfield Council’s Trading Standards has received enquiries and continue to receive enquiries from 
residents within the Borough of Enfield alleging the sale/supply and misuse of Nitrous Oxide allegedly 
being sold from Maxi Food & Wine- 38 Chase Side London N14 5PA.  Enfield Council has also 
received enquiries from residents alleging Maxi Food & Wine are selling nitrous oxide cannisters to 
underaged persons thus allegedly contributing to anti-social behaviour with the Southgate ward of the 
Borough. 
 
Central government have outlined an Anti-social Behaviour Action Plan that aims to stamp out 
anti-social behaviour and restore the right of people to feel safe.  Please have regard to the   
Anti-social Behaviour Action Plan that outlines how Local Councils and other agencies can tackle          
anti-social behaviour within their local area: -  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-action-plan  
 
It is a criminal offence for Retailers to sell nitrous oxide to customers of any age where the 
retailer knows or is reckless about whether the psychoactive substance (e.g. nitrous oxide) is 
likely to be consumed by the person to whom it is supplied (e.g. persons under the age of 18 
years old), or by some other person, for its psychoactive effects.  
 
 
 
 
 

  Kemal Altun 
  Company Director od  
  Maxxi Store Ltd 
  t/a Maxi Food & Wine 
  38 Chase Side 
  London 
  N14 5PA 

  

 

 

Please reply to: Amanda Butler 
Trading Standards, Civic Centre, 
Silver Street, Enfield, EN1 3ES 

E-mail :  
My Ref :  

Your Email :  
Date : 10 May 2023 

 
WA                                         

WARNING LETTER 
 
 
Dear Kemal Altun- Company Director of Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine 

Page 71

http://www.enfield.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-action-plan


Internal - Official - Sensitive 

On 1st August 2022, Enfield Council’s Trading Standards issued an advisory/warning letter outlining 
how to comply with the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016.  

On 4th August 2022, verbal advice regarding compliance with the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 
was also issued during the seizure of illegal/non-duty paid cigarettes, vapes and medicines namely 
Viagra and Sildenafil.   

On 16th February 2023, an inspection was conducted by Enfield Council’s Trading Standards whereby 
alleged non-compliant nicotine pouches/snus, Vapes, cream chargers, cream dispensers and  
Fast Gas nitrous oxide cannisters were seized from retail premises Maxi Food & Wine as they were 
alleged to breach the Consumer Protection Act 1987and/or Psychoactive Substances Act 2016. 

The minutes of the Licensing Hearing of Maxi Food & Wine-38 Chase Side N14 conducted on     
4th January 2023 states that Maxi Food & Wine had removed nitrous oxide from sale since     
December 2022 and that your wife namely Aylin Yengin is the business rates payer of Maxi Wine 
Centre 495 Hertford Rd London EN3.  However, since December 2022 to present date.     
Enfield Council has received enquiries alleging the sale and misuse of nitrous oxide cannisters from 
Maxi Food & Wine and from motor vehicles parked outside and/or adjacent to Maxi Food & Wine- 
38 Chase Side N14 5PA and Maxxi Wine Centre-495 Hertford Rd EN3. 

As discussed during our telephone conversation on 4th May 2023, after careful consideration of the 
evidence, whilst there is enough evidence to consider criminal proceedings, in this instance,  
Enfield Council are issuing this warning letter regarding the afore-mentioned non-compliant goods 
that were seized from Maxi Food & Wine- 38 Chase Side London N14 5PA on 16th February 2023. 
During our telephone conversation, as Company Director of Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine- 
38 Chase Side N14 5PA and Owner of the seized Tobacco products, Nitrous Oxide Cannisters, 
cream dispensers and cream chargers that were seized on 16th February 2023, you agreed to 
voluntarily surrender i.e., Sign over the identified non-compliant goods for disposal in accordance with 
the Consumer Protection Act.  

Enfield Council requires Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine to: - 

• Please sign and date the Voluntary Surrender form and return the afore-mentioned form to
 within 7 days. If you do not agree to sign over the alleged

non-compliant goods, then Enfield Council will apply to the court for forfeiture and seek to
recover the costs of doing so from Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine.

• Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine must IMMEDIATELY STOP selling non-compliant
e-cigarettes/Vapes, Nicotine Pouches/Snus and Nitrous Oxide Cannisters and Nicotine
containing E-liquids as the seized goods are alleged to breach the Psychoactive Substances
Act 2016 and Consumer Protection Act 1987. Depending on the type of breach, both Retailers
and Producers (manufacturers/importers) in the supply chain could be prosecuted.

• If you are currently storing/supplying Nitrous Oxide Cannisters then Enfield Council requests
that you return the nitrous oxide cannisters to your suppliers within 7 days i.e., no later than
the 17thMay 2023.  Please confirm that you have complied with the afore mentioned.

• To sign the enclosed undertaking within 7 days to refrain from selling Nitrous Oxide from your
retail premises and motor-vehicles parked in proximity to your retail premises, namely
Maxi Food & Wine- 38 Chase Side London N14 5PA.

• Aylin Yengin to sign the enclosed undertaking within 7 days to refrain from selling Nitrous
Oxide from retail premises Maxxi Wine Centre-495 Hertford Rd EN3 5XH and motor-vehicles
parked in proximity to the afore-mentioned retail premises.

Page 72



 

 
Internal - Official - Sensitive 

 
 

• Please email or telephone Enfield Council’s Trading Standards within 7 days to arrange for a 
suitable date and time to return x59 Nicotine pods that were seized on 16th February 2023 that 
has subsequently been identified as compliant with the Consumer Protection Act. 
 

You are reminded that if you are found to be storing/selling nitrous oxide during the alcohol licence 
suspension period, then Enfield Council could apply for a full revocation of the premises licence. 
 
Enfield Council will continue to conduct test purchases from your retail premises and if found to be 
non-compliant with consumer protection legislation, then Enfield Council may consider formal action. 
 
If you would like to discuss the contents of this letter, please telephone Enfield Council 

 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Amanda Butler 
Senior Fair Trading Officer 
Encl. Voluntary Surrender Form 
          Untertaking Form -Maxi Food & Wine-38 Chase Side N14 5PA 
          Undertaking Form-Aylin Yengin Maxxi Wine Centre-495 Hertford Rd EN3 5XH  
 

Page 73



                                            F H07/14 

 
External - Official - Sensitive 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

        Consumer Protection Department 
        Silver Street 
        Enfield, Middlesex EN1 3XD 
 

Tel:   
 
10th May 2023 

         
 
 

Undertaking to Enfield Trading Standards 

I, Kemal ALTUN being the Company Director of Maxxi Store Ltd t/a                      
Maxi Food & Wine Centre, 38 Chase Side, N14 undertake to Enfield Council that 
I will not transport, store nor sell Nitrous Oxide from: 

Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase Side, N14 5PA 

Nor from motor-vehicles: 

 

 

 

Nor from any associated premises or motor-vehicles 

I will produce by 17th May 2023, the credit note of returned Nitrous Oxide as a 
part of this undertaking. 

I also agree that any continued course conduct in the transportation, storage 
and sale of Nitrous oxide maybe referred to by Enfield Council in any legal 
proceedings against the company or myself, if we are proved to be breach of 
this undertaking. 

 
(signed)…………………………………………………………..(date)……………… 
 
(print name)……………………………………………………….. 
 
for and on behalf of Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine 
 
 

 
To: Kemal Altun  
Company Director of Maxxi Store Ltd 
t/a Maxi Food & Wine 
38 Chase Side  
London 
N14 5PA 

Page 74



                                            FH0714 

 
External - Official - Sensitive 

 
 

 
 

      
   

Consumer Protection 
PO Box 57, Civic Centre 
Silver Street 
Enfield, Middlesex EN1 3XY 

 
                                                                                       Tel:  020 8  
 
                                                                                         10th May 2023 

 
TRANSFER OF PROPERTY DISCLAIMER 
 
Ref:  
 
I hereby transfer to the London Borough of Enfield all rights and property  
(Disposable Vape Products, Nicotine Pouches, Cream chargers, Cream Dispensers and 
Nitrous Oxide cannisters) in the following articles that were in my possession, 
custody or control: - 
 

 

I am authorised to waive all rights from this date, this date being the date of seizure by an 
officer of this service.  I further indemnify the London Borough of Enfield against any claim 
or encumbrance present or future in relation to these goods. 
 
In signing this disclaimer, I understand that no further formal action will be taken against me 
in relation to these goods. 
 
(signed)…………………………………………………………..(date)…………………………… 
 
(print name)………………………………………………………..for and on behalf of                 
Maxxi Store Ltd t/a Maxi Food & Wine                                                                                         
 
 
Full details of the goods being signed over for disposal are detailed in the attached 
Schedule 
 
 
 

 
To: Kemal Altun  
Company Director of Maxxi Store Ltd  
t/a Maxi Food & Wine 
38 Chase Side  
London 
N14 5PA 

 

At: Maxxi Store Ltd 
t/a Maxi Food & Wine 
38 Chase Side  
London 
N14 5PA 
 

On: 16th February 2023, Enfield Council seized Approx 268 Nicotine Pods/Snus/ 
Approx 73 non-compliant vapes/ 102 large cannisters of Fast Gas Nitrous Oxide/ 
approx 840 small silver cream chargers/34 cream dispensers from your retail 
premises namely Maxi Food & Wine,38 Chase Side, London, N14 5PA 
 

Page 75



     FH0714 

External - Official - Sensitive 

Consumer Protection 
PO Box 57, Civic Centre 
Silver Street 
Enfield, Middlesex EN1 3XY 

  Tel:  020 8379 1000 

TRANSFER OF PROPERTY DISCLAIMER – Schedule of Goods 

Ref:  

Seal Number Quantity Description 

XH1787898 X34 Cream Dispensers 

XH1787898 X59 Vapeman Solo 
XH1787898 X13 Randm Tornado Vapes 
XH1787898 X1 Speeds Bar Vape 
M0821M005299 X 174 Nicotine Pouches Snus of Killer 

extra strong Nico pods Snus:-  
x30 x13 Flavor,  
x22 Cola 
x15 Blueberry 
x51 Grape Ice 
x1 Pineapple 
x3 Strawberry Lychee 
x3 Watermelon 
x14 Banana Ice 
x35 Frosted Mint 

N05235722 20 Nicotine pods/pouches of 
Snus: - 

X6 Ice cool Velo 
X4On! Citrus  
X4 On! Spearmint 
X3 On! Lemon Berry 
X3 On! Mint 

To: Kemal Altun  
Company Director of Maxxi Store Ltd 
t/a Maxi Food & Wine 
38 Chase Side  
London 
N14 5PA 

Page 76



                                            FH0714 

 
External - Official - Sensitive 

P07795819 (from 
N05235722) 

15 Nicotine pouches Killer extra strong Nico pods 
Snus:   
X 1 Pineapple 
X1 Grape Ice 
X1 Watermelon 
X1 Mango Ice 
X1 Frosted Mint 
X1 Banana Ice 
X1 Strawberry Lychee 
X1 13 Flavor 
X1 Blueberry 
X1 Cola 
 
X1 Velo Ice Cool 
X1 On! Spearmint 
X1 On! Lemon Berry 
X1 On! Citrus 
X1 On! Mint 
 
 

P07796616 
 

x1  
 

X1 Fast Gas Nitrous Oxide 
Cannister 
 

Seal nos:-02146, 
N06171663, N06171664, 
N06171666, N06171662, 
004391, 004395, 004394, 
004392, 004396, 
P07796614, 004393, 
002144, TE252930, 
TE252929, 002145, 
P07796609 
 

x17 boxes of 6 (102) x17 boxes of 6 (102) Fast Gas 
Nitrous Oxide cannisters 
 

N06171665 x30 boxes of 24 cream chargers 
(720 cream chargers) 

x30 boxes of 24 cream chargers 
(720 cream chargers) 

XH1787898 x5 boxes of 24 cream chargers 
(120 cream chargers) 
 
x34  

x5 boxes of 24 cream chargers 
(120 cream chargers) 
 
x34 Cream dispensers 

 
Human Rights Act 1998 
Under Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on Human Rights every 
legal or natural person is entitled to peaceful enjoyment of his possessions.  No one shall be 
deprived of his possessions except in the public interest and subject to the conditions 
provided for by law and the general principles of International Law.  In waiving all rights in 
the articles listed above I recognise that I have no rights in the intellectual property in any 
copyright and/or registered trademarks contained on or in those items and that the items 
would be liable to forfeited by the courts if an application was so made. 
 
 

Page 77



                                            F H07/14 

 
External - Official - Sensitive 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

        Consumer Protection Department 
        Silver Street 
        Enfield, Middlesex EN1 3XD 
 

Tel:  0208   
 
10th May 2023 

         
 
 

Undertaking to Enfield Trading Standards 

I, Aylin Yengin being the business rates payer of Maxxi Wine Centre,                    
495 Hertford Rd EN3 undertake to Enfield Council that I will not transport, store 
nor sell Nitrous Oxide from: 

Maxxi Wine Centre, 495 Hertford Road, EN3 

Nor from Motor-vehicles: 

 (495 Hertford Road) 

Nor from any associated premises or motor-vehicles 

I will produce by 17 May 2023, the credit note of returned Nitrous Oxide as a 
part of this undertaking. 

I also agree that any continued course conduct in the transportation, storage 
and sale of Nitrous oxide maybe referred to by Enfield CounciI, in any legal 
proceedings against the company or myself, if we are proved to be breach of 
this undertaking. 

(signed)…………………………………………………………..(date)………………… 
 
(print name)……………………………………………………….. 
 
for and on behalf of Maxi Wine Centre-495 Hertford Rd EN3 5XH 
 

 
To: Aylin Yengin-Business Rates Payer of 
Maxxi Wine Centre 
495 Hertford Rd 
London  
EN3 5XH 

Page 78



Appendix 11
Page 79



Page 80



 

Page 81



Appendix 12
Page 82



Appendix 13
Page 83



LICENSING AUTHORITY REPRESENTATION 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Name and address of premises:   Maxi Food & Wine 
38 Chase Side, 
Southgate 
N14 5PA 

Type of Application: Review of Premises Licence 

Detailed below is information not previously included in the review application 
submitted on 31/05/2023: 

31/05/23 – 11:00 – 11:30 Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) entered 
premises, delivered licence review application, put up notice outside premises and 
returned compliant nicotine pouches.  They also checked the outstanding licence 
conditions.  The following were still not compliant: 
Condition 7 – Staff not trained – no records available.  Member of staff contacted Mr 
Altun via text and advised that he would arrange for training to be carried out.  Of ficer 
agreed to email a training record book to staff. 
Condition 18 – CCTV time still one hour slow.  Staff did not know how to use the 
system so officer unable to check quality of footage or how long it was stored for.   
Condition 19 – The member of staff serving did not have a personal licence, neither 
did another male working at the premises.  The person serving said that this other 
make did not serve customers and did not speak English.  Officer advised the 
conditions states ‘all staff’. During the inspection Mr Karagoz arrived at the premises 
and showed the officers his personal licence.   
Condition 9 – Refusal book had been used twice since the visit on 22/05/23 and on 
both occasions the refusals were made by the member of staff officers had spoken to 
on that day.  There were no other refusals (this may have been due to the fact the 
licence was suspended for 3 months but the officer was still concerned that no refusals 
had been made by any other staff.  The member of staff seen only works during the 
daytime and only part of the week).  Advised to ensure all staff are training in how and 
when to use it. 
The officer checked the storeroom, no alcohol or nitrous oxide was seen.  The box 
containing tobacco stock had been labelled ‘Tobacco Stock’.   
When asked staff advised that Mr Altun has returned to the UK for a while but had 
since gone back to Turkey.  Staff did not know whether or not he had signed the forms 
he had been sent by Trading Standards.  See Appendix 14. 

Also on this date as Trading Standards had not received a signed voluntary surrender 
from Mr Altun they sent a chase up email and also telephoned him (no answer to call)  
requesting he sign the requisite documentation i.e. voluntary surrender form/ 
undertaking re: Nitrous Oxide that was emailed on 04/05/2023.  On the same dare Mr 
Altun returned the signed voluntary surrender form regarding nicotine products/cream 
dispensers and Nitrous Oxide cannisters seized on 16th February 2023. See 
Appendix 15. Trading Standards replied requesting that he also sign the undertaking 
regarding ceasing to supply and/or store Nitrous Oxide from Maxi Food & Wine and 
request Aylin Yengin-and/or Owner of Maxxi Wine Centre also sign the undertaking to 

Annex DPage 84



Enfield Council regarding refraining from supplying and/or storing Nitrous Oxide f rom 
495 Hertford Rd EN3 5XH. 
 
14/06/23 – When passing by the premises Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) 
noticed that the premises is now trading as Happy Food & Wine.  The Licensing Team 
have not been notif ied of any change by the licence holder.   
 
21/06/23 - Complaint received in relation to food premises storing and selling goods 
from a Vauxhall van. 
 
26/06/23 – Complaint received alleging premises sells nitrous oxide, storing the gas in 
vans outside the shop and selling them to children at all times.  The complaint 
submitted a photo showing at least 15 fast gas cannisters and f ive fast gas cardboard 
boxes and well as other rubbish around a lamppost claiming this is what the high street 
looks like every day.  See Appendix 16. 
 
26/06/23 – Complaint received alleging premises sells nitrous oxide from a van outside 
the premises to children.   
 
30/06/23 – Out of Hours Licensing Enforcement Team observations (EB/DD).  23:18 – 
00:13. One white van seen directly outside looked overloaded as very low to the 
ground - Mercedes sprinter.  A large discarded can of nitrous oxide was observed on 
the pavement outside the premises.  A further can was seen being placed on the 
ground by someone in a black car.  Most people were arriving in cars and were either 
standing outside or going into the shop.  The officer’s state a conservative estimate 
would be that 30-40 people entered the premises and came out with carrier bags which 
contained items matching the shape and size of large fast gas cannisters. They could 
not always see the cannister itself but sometimes did.  Most were aged between 18- 
late 20’s.  When the officers first arrived, a young male was seen outside the shop with 
an inflated balloon in his hand sucking on the balloon.  There was a car directly outside 
with two females inside - driver and passenger both inhaling from balloons.  These two 
were older than most, approximately 35 years old.  When they drove off the driver did a 
turn in the road to go in the opposite direction and this manoeuvre took many attempts.   
Officers described it as a 12 point turn rather than a 3-point turn.  Another male also 
had diff iculty when he arrived at the premises taking approximately 15 minutes to park 
outside.  He was seen to bump into the van a couple of times.  Once he eventually 
parked, he entered the premises.  Officers were of the opinion that this premises was 
selling nitrous oxide.  There appeared to be a member of staff outside the premises, at 
some point two.  Officers got the impression that if people weren’t known they were 
sent away.  However, plenty of people did go in the premises.  Only one or two seemed 
to be sent away.   
 
09/07/23 – Complaint received from local resident alleging this premises is selling ‘f ast 
gas’ resulting in crowds gathering outside from early evening until 7am every day.  
Friday and Saturday are the worst.  Noise from people prevents residents from 
sleeping.  Resident claimed there is constant noise, violence, car horns beeping, 
people urinating on the street, smashing bottles, loud music, and recently people were 
chasing each other with machetes and the police were called.   
 
09/07/23 – Complaint received from another local residents regarding parties in the 
street from 00:00 to 07:00.  People inhaling fast gas from balloons purchased from this 
premises, making noise, smoking drugs, beeping car horns, vomiting in the street, 
breaking bottles, urinating in the street and littering.  Prevents residents from sleeping.  
 
 

Page 85



Request for CCTV Footage 
 
As a result of the observations carried out on 30/06/23 – early hours of 01/02/23 the 
Licensing Authority requests that a copy of the CCTV footage from the premises be 
provided to the Licensing Authority by 9am on Monday 17th July 2023.  The times 
requested are set out below: 
 
23:15 on 30/06/23 – 00:15 on 01/07/23 
 
This request is made in line with Condition 18 of the premises licence: 
 
18. A CCTV system shall be installed, operated and maintained at the premises. The 
system shall conform to the Data Protection Act guidelines.  Cameras shall monitor the 
front entrance doors, till area, alcohol displays and the outside of the premises. The 
time and date shall be generated onto recordings, which shall be of a quality to satisf y 
the Police and which shall be retained for a minimum of 31 days. At all times there shall 
be at the premises a member of staff who can operate the CCTV system and provide 
any copies of the CCTV footage when lawfully requested. 
 
 
Duly Authorised: Charlotte Palmer, Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer  
 
Contact:  
 
 
Signed:   Date: 13/07/23 

Page 86



Appendix 14
Page 87



Page 88



Appendix 15
Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Appendix 16
Page 92



Licensing Authority 
Licensing Team 
Environment & Operational Services 
Place Directorate 
Enf ield Council 
Silver Street 
Enf ield 
EN1 3ES

Licensing Unit 
Edmonton Police Station 
462 Fore Street,  
London 
N9 0PW 
PC Derek Ewart  1277NA 

www.met.police.uk 

26th June 2023 

RE :Application for the Review of a Premises Licence or 
Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003  

Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase Side, 
Southgate,N14 5PA 

Dear Licensing Team, 

Having Been made aware that Enfield Licensing Authority is seeking a review of this 
premises licence on the grounds that the premises has been found to be selling 
nitrous oxide despite the fact that a condition was added to the licence at a premises 
licence review hearing on 4th January 2023 stating ‘No nitrous oxide (laughing gas) 
should be stored or sold to consumers’. It IS further believed the premise is have 
been negligent in the sale of Nitrous Oxide containing products in that they have 
failed to exercise due diligence in the sales and as a result have been reckless and 
knew or ought to have known that the nitrous oxide was actually being purchased to 
be used for the purpose of the purchaser to obtain intoxication by inhaling. 

There is also information to suggest that the named Premises holder and Designated 
Premises Supervisor Ms Nuray Ozdemir does not have overall supervision of the day 

Annex E
Page 93



to day running of the premises and in fact is in essence in name only as fulfilling 
these roles. 
 
We the Police therefore support the Local Authority in this review in that we feel the 
following licensing objectives are failing to be upheld: 
 

• Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
• Public Safety  
• Protection Of Children From Harm  
• The prevention of Public Nuisance  

 
 
 

The licence currently permits 
the following activities: 
Licensable Activity  

 Times    

 Opening Hours   06:00 – 23:00 everyday    
 Sale of Alcohol (off sales)   06:00 – 23:00 everyday    
 
 
It is understood that these premises due to their past activity and failings of the stated 
Designated Premises Supervisor (Aylin Yengin) to uphold the prevention of Crime 
objective  were reviewed by LBE Trading standards which was submitted 26th 
October 2022. 
 
Whilst awaiting the review hearing scheduled for the 4th January 2023 a Premises 
Licence Transfer application and a Vary DPS application was submitted on 12th 
December 2022.  
 
The review hearing took place on 04/01/23. The decision notice shows that the 
premises licence was suspended for three months, and additional conditions were 
added to the premises licence including the condition to prevent the sale of any 
products containing Nitrous Oxide once the suspension had expired. The timeframes 
of the suspension being 25th January 2023 to 24 April 2023. 
 
It is true to say that there has since the review hearing on the 4th January 2023 been 
in excess of 11 complaints received to LBE from both members of the public and 
from Trading standards that are alleging incidents of Anti-social behaviour and 
littering of large NOS gas canisters as sold from these premises and sales continuing 
from these premises along with photographic evidence from concerned members of 
the community showing vans being unloaded to the premises containing vast 
quantities of Fast Gas(Nitrous Oxide ) containing canisters by staff from the premises 
in particular a male by the name of Ahmet Karagoz . 
 
 
On the 22nd may 2023 I attended(DE)the location with Senior Licensing Officer 
Charlotte Palmer and my Police Colleague Jade Haynes .Mrs Palmer carried out a 
full licensing check of the premises and found the following non-compliant conditions 
(Taken directly from Mrs Palmer report): 
 
 
Condition 2 – Alcohol shall be securely stored, locked away from other stock with 
limited key access (customers could access alcohol themselves – on hindsight 
officers wondered whether this condition related to a storage area rather than the 
alcohol on display)  

Page 94



Condition 9 – The member of staff did not know what a refusals book was or that 
she was meant to fill it in when she refused a sale. She messaged Kemal Altun and 
he told her where it was. Officer explained to the member of staff how to fill it in.  
Conditions 14 – Tobacco stock was in a box under the counter but the box was not 
labelled ‘Tobacco Stock’.  
Condition 17 – No training records seen. Staff advised they had not been trained in 
how to complete a refusal book or what ID to accept. She was aware she had to use 
a Think 25 policy.  
Condition 18 – Unable to check CCTV records for 31 days as staff not sure how to 
use the system. The time on the monitor was 1 hour slow.  
Condition 19 – When asked the member of staff on duty advised that she was not a 
personal licence holder. She advised that Mr Ahmet Karagoz normally works with her  
 
 
 
 
It is of note to the Committee That Ahmet Karagoz was the interim DPS and in fact is 
believed was running another Maxxi Wine premises situated at 42 Topsfield 
Parade,N8 pending a DPS and Premises licence holder change from Miss 
AylinYengin . 
 
These premises have also been reviewed for numerous breaches of the Licensing 
Act and for failing to uphold the licensing objectives of amongst others Prevention Of 
crime and disorder .The main issues being the blatant sale of Nitrous Oxide 
containing Fast Gas products .Which promoted anti-social behaviour and public 
nuisance within the vicinity of that premise. 
 
The LB Haringey Subcommittee met on the 12th June 2023.The committee resolved 
that there had been a failure to promote the licensing objectives of the Prevention of 
Crime and Disorder, the Prevention of Public Nuisance and the Protection of Children 
from Harm. 
 
 The Committee were satisfied that unlawful activity has taken place at the premises 
since Ms Aylin Yengin has been the premises licence holder and despite previous 
advice from Trading Standards it has continued, even after Mr Karagoz became the 
interim licence holder and interim DPS pending the determination of his 
applications of 26 April 2023.  
 
 The Committee were satisfied that the following unlawful activity was occurring at 
the premises:  
• stocking for sale non-compliant Electronic cigarettes (vapes)  
• stocking for sale and Sildenafil and Kamagra gel (“Viagra”) without a medical 
registration from Medicines and Healthcare  
 
• Selling Nitrous Oxide gas (“NOS”) knowing or failing to have regard to the 
psychoactive effects and the risks for misuse and in the knowledge that their 
customers consumed the substance outside the premises. 
 
It was accepted as previously stated that this unlawful activity was taking place at a 
time when Mr Karagoz was acting as the Licence Holder and DPS (Interim). 
 
The determination was to revoke the premises licence in order to promote the 
licensing objectives. 
 

Page 95



We the Police are of the view that Maxxi Food and wine is/was a family run business 
with Mr Karagoz playing a leading role in the operational running of the business 
situated at the  site in Topsfield Parade ,N8 and at 38 Chase Side, Enfield.  
 
 
In summary  

 It is the Police position that Ahmet Karagoz is involved in a family run business 
within the Maxxi Food Group .He is not independent in his business practices as 
illustrated in the evidence provided within the dealings with the Topsfield Parade, N8 
venue. It has been determined that unlawful activity took place whilst under the 
supervision of Ahmet Karagoz for certain at the Topsfield Parade, N8 site and likely 
at the Chase Side Site as illustrated by the LBE information. 

 Mr Karagoz clearly had knowledge of unlawful activity at The Chase Side premises 
and was acting as a manager there appearing to take part in that activity and lying to 
officers about it leaves us with no confidence or trust in him or any other member of 
staff at those premises to uphold any of the licensing objectives. 

 

If these premises are allowed to continue trading it is the belief of the Police that 
breaches of the Licensing Act and dubious business practices will continue, Clearly 
license suspension as instigated previously has not acted in any way as a deterrent 
we therefore ask that the Subcommittee revoke the premises licence to prevent the 
continued disregard for the objectives continuing. 

. 

I reserve the right to provide further information to support this representation.  
Regards,  
 

 
PC Derek Ewart 1277NA 
North Area Licensing Officer 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



Annex F 
 

Other Party Representation 
 
OP1 Representation: 
 
Premises: Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase Side, LONDON, N14 5PA WK/223017276 
LDR: 28/06/2023 Officer initials:RXM  
 
Dear Sir / Madam,  
 
I am writing to you to support the review of the licence of the above premises and 
believe that their licence should be revoked for the reasons I state below.  
 

1. The premises works against the licensing objective to Prevent Crime and 
Disorder. Maxi Food and Wine have actually committed crime themselves in 
the past by selling illegal tobacco, illegal vapes, nitrous oxide, unregulated 
versions of Viagra etc. When the council caught them selling such products, 
they moved their sales to a van outside their premises which I witnessed them 
dealing nitrous oxide from myself. It creates disorder in Southgate as the 
nitrous oxide they are dealing is known to have psychoactive effects and 
therefore, affects the behaviour of those who use the substance. They are 
dealing nitrous oxide by the box! The van had also failed to have paid for its 
parking.  
Additionally, they are only supposed to be open, as per their current licence, 
until 11pm. Every time I have gone past after this time, they have still been 
open, which is a breach of their licence.  
 

2. Prevention of Public nuisance – they are dealing psychoactive substances 
which can cause people to behave anti-socially. Furthermore, gas cannisters 
are littered around the premises and the wider high street area as a result of 
their sales which is unsightly, unclean and a nuisance to Southgate residents. 
Additionally, every day, there is fly tipping, piles of sacks outside their 
premises which is unhygienic, unsightly, and illegal. Sometimes, the sack 
piles are so extensive that it hinders people walking past but also attracts 
pests. This is a daily occurrence.  
 

3. Public safety- They have been caught by the council selling substances that 
could cause significant harm. Nitrous Oxide, which Maxi is known to sell, is 
known to damage the throat, lungs, hinder breathing or slow the heart to 
dangerous levels. In some cases, it has even paralysed people and in even 
more severe cases, been the cause of death. It has been selling illegal and 
unregulated versions of Viagra and similar drugs which could cause 
significant harm to those who take it. Furthermore, there are large groups of 
men constantly loitering around outside which creates an intimidating 
atmosphere and feels very threatening for those who walk past.  

 
4. Protection of children from harm – Residents have reported to me that this 

business have been selling vapes to children, who are clearly underaged and 

Page 97



should have been permitted to buy them. Therefore, placing them in harms 
way. Maxi Food and Wine have also been found in the past to be selling 
illegal and unregulated, non UK duty paid vapes. It is a possibility that these 
have been provided to under-18s which is even more concerning.  

   
Please take our concerns into consideration and revoke the licence of this business.  
 
I look forward to hearing updates on the licencing of this business.  
 
 
Cllr Elisa Morreale  
The Conservative Party  
Southgate Ward  
 

Page 98



MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023/24 REPORT NO. 

Agenda - Part Item 
COMMITTEE : 
Licensing Sub-Committee 
26 July 2023 

REPORT OF : 
Ellie Green, Licensing Team Manager 

LEGISLATION : 
Licensing Act 2003 

SUBJECT : 
Review Application 

PREMISES : 
Southgate Food Centre, 30-32 Chase Side, 
LONDON, N14 5PA  

WARD : 
Southgate 

1 LICENSING HISTORY & CURRENT POSITION - LN/200501160: 

1.1 The premises has been previously known as Southgate General Store, and 
Costcutter before being named Maxi Food & Wine. 

1.2 On 16 August 2005, a conversion premises licence application which was 
not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance 
with delegated powers, naming Mr G Sahar as the Premises Licence Holder 
(PLH) and also as the Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS). 

1.3 On 17 April May 2012, a transfer application and vary DPS which were not 
subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with 
delegated powers, naming Mr Murat Ceviz as the Premises Licence Holder 
(PLH), and also the DPS.  

1.4 On 21 May 2019, a transfer and vary DPS application which were not subject 
to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated 
powers, naming Mr Baris Kisa, as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and 
also became the DPS.  

1.5 On 6 June 2023, Mr Kisa provided the up to date address details to the Licensing 
Team, and the premises licence was subsequently amended. 

1.6 The premises has not been subject to any review or formal action under 
licensing previously. 

1.7 The current premises licence LN/200501160 permits: 

1.7.1       The hours the premises are open to the public: 24 hours daily.  

1.7.2  Supply of alcohol (off supplies only): 24 hours daily. 

1.7.3  Late night refreshment (indoors): 23:00 to 05:00 daily. 

1.8 A copy of the current premises licence LN/200600265 is attached as Annex A. 

Page 99 Agenda Item 5



 
 
2.0  THIS APPLICATION: 
 
2.1  On 30 May 2023 an application was made by Enfield Council’s Licensing 

Authority for the review of Premises Licence LN/200501160 and is produced in 
Annex B.  

 
2.2   Additional Information was provided by the Licensing Authority to further support 

their representation and a copy is produced in Annex C. 
 
2.3   The review application has been submitted as the Licensing Authority believes 

the four licensing objectives are being undermined as the following unlawful 
activity is taking place at/from the premises: 

• sales of nitrous oxide are being recklessly made from the premises; 
• breaches of licence conditions. 

 
2.4   The review application seeks to revoke the premises licence in its entirety. 

 
2.5  The review application was advertised in accordance with the requirements of 

the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
2.6   Each of the Responsible Authorities were consulted in respect of the application. 
 

 
 

3.0  RELEVANT REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
3.1     Other Parties – Representation was made by a Southgate ward councillor, in 

support the review, in that they do not believe any of the four licensing objectives 
are being upheld. A copy of this representation can be seen in Annex D. 

 
3.3    Premises Licence Holder – No representation has been made by Mr Kisa in 

response to this review application at the time the report was prepared. 
 
 
4.0  PROPOSED LICENCE CONDITIONS: 
 
4.1   Conditions arising from this review application are set out in Annex E.  
 
 
5.0 RELEVANT LAW, GUIDANCE & POLICIES: 
 
5.1 The paragraphs below are extracted from either : 

5.1.1 the Licensing Act 2003 (‘Act’); or 

5.1.2 the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State to the Home Office of April 
2018 (‘Guid’); or 

5.1.3 the London Borough of Enfield’s Licensing Policy Statement of January 
2020 (‘Pol’). 

 
 General Principles : 

Page 100



 
5.2 The Licensing Sub-Committee must carry out its functions with a view to promoting 

the licensing objectives [Act s.4(1)]. 
 
5.3The licensing objectives are : 

5.3.1 the prevention of crime and disorder; 

5.3.2 public safety; 

5.3.3the prevention of public nuisance; & 

5.3.4the protection of children from harm [Act s.4(2)]. 
 
5.4 In carrying out its functions, the Sub-Committee must also have regard to : 

5.4.1 the Council’s licensing policy statement; & 

5.4.2 guidance issued by the Secretary of State [Act s.4(3)]. 
 
 

Review:  
 
5.5 In reviewing a licence the Licensing Sub-Committee will consider, and take into 

account, the complaints history of the premises and all other relevant information 
[Pol s.10.3].  

 
5.6 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly 

connected with licensable activities, for example the sale of contraband goods. 
The Sub-Committee does not have the power to judge the criminality or 
otherwise of any issue. The Sub-Committee’s role is to ensure the promotion of 
the crime prevention objective [Guid s.11.24].  

 
5.7 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed 

premises which should be treated particularly seriously. These include the use of 
the premises for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol [Guid 
s.11.27].  

 
5.8 Where reviews arise in respect of these criminal activities and the Sub-Committee 

determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined, it is 
expected that revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be 
seriously considered [Guid s.11.28]. 

 
 
Nitrous Oxide: 

 
5.9 See the review application for the legal background on the sale and consumption     
      of nitrous oxide. 
 

Decision: 
 

Page 101



5.10 Having heard all of the representations (from all parties) the Licensing Sub-
Committee must take such steps as it considers appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives. The steps are :  

5.10.1 to modify the conditions of the licence; 

5.10.2 to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence; 

5.10.3 to remove the designated premises supervisor 

5.10.4 to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 

5.10.5 to revoke the licence [Act s.52]. 
 
5.11 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, the Sub-Committee should so far as 
possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns which the 
representations identify. The remedial action taken should generally be directed at 
these causes and should generally be directed at those causes and should always be 
no more than an appropriate and proportionate response to address the causes of 
concern that instigated the review.  [Guid s.11.20]. 
 
 
Background Papers :  
None other than any identified within the 
report.  
 
Contact Officer :  
Ellie Green on 0208 1322 128 

 

 

Page 102



Licensing Act 2003

PART A – PREMISES LICENCE

Granted by the London Borough of Enfield as Licensing Authority

Premises Licence Number: LN/200501160

Part 1 – Premises Details

Premises Name and 
Address:

Southgate Food Centre, 30-32 Chase Side, LONDON, N14 
5PA

Where the licence is time-limited, the 
dates:

Not time limited

Maximum number of persons 
permitted on the premises 
where the capacity is 5,000 or 
more. 

Not applicable

The opening hours of the premises, the licensable activities authorised by the licence 
and the times the licence authorises the carrying out of those activities:

Operating Schedule Details 

Location Whole Premises
Activity Open to the Public
Sunday 00:00-00:00
Monday 00:00-00:00
Tuesday 00:00-00:00
Wednesday 00:00-00:00
Thursday 00:00-00:00
Friday 00:00-00:00
Saturday 00:00-00:00
Non-Standard Timings & Seasonal 
Variations

Location Off Supply
Activity Supply of Alcohol
Sunday 00:00-00:00
Monday 00:00-00:00
Tuesday 00:00-00:00
Wednesday 00:00-00:00
Thursday 00:00-00:00
Friday 00:00-00:00
Saturday 00:00-00:00

Annex A
Page 103



Non-Standard Timings & Seasonal 
Variations

Location Indoors
Activity Late Night Refreshment
Sunday 23:00-05:00
Monday 23:00-05:00
Tuesday 23:00-05:00
Wednesday 23:00-05:00
Thursday 23:00-05:00
Friday 23:00-05:00
Saturday 23:00-05:00
Non-Standard Timings & Seasonal 
Variations

Page 104



Part 2

Name and (registered) address of holder(s) of premises licence:

Name: Mr Baris Kisa

Address:

Registered number of 
holder (if applicable):

Not applicable

Name and address of designated premises supervisor (where the licence authorises 
the supply of alcohol):

Name: Mr Baris Kisa

Address:

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated 
premises supervisor (where the licence authorises the supply of alcohol):

Personal Licence Number:

Issuing Authority: London Borough of Lewisham 

Signe Date: 6 June 2023    

for and on behalf of the
London Borough of Enfield
Licensing Team, 
Civic Centre, Silver Street, 
Enfield EN1 3XY

Page 105



Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions 

The Mandatory Conditions are attached and form part of the Operating 
Schedule of your licence/certificate. You must ensure that the operation of the 
licensed premises complies with the attached Mandatory Conditions as well as 
the Conditions in Annex 2 and Annex 3 (if applicable). Failure to do this can 
lead to prosecution or review of the licence.

Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule 

1. There shall be no adult entertainment or services, activities or matters
ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of
children.

2. All staff shall receive induction and refresher training (at least every
three months) relating to the sale of alcohol.

3. All training relating to the sale of alcohol shall be documented and
records kept at the premises. These records shall be made available to the
Police and /or Local Authority upon request and shall be kept for at least one
year.

4. A Premises Licence summary shall be displayed at each public entrance
to the premises.

5. A CCTV system shall be installed, operated and maintained at the
premises. CCTV cameras shall monitor all alcohol display areas, the front
entrance door and the outside of the premises and the recordings shall be to
the agreed image standard. The medium on which the images are recorded
shall be clearly identifiable, securely stored and retained for not less than 31-
days. Recordings shall be made available to authorised officers on request.
The system shall be compliant with the Data Protection Act.

6. Known trouble-makers shall be barred from the premises.

7. Fire, safety and emergency equipment and procedures shall be operated
and maintained at the premises.

8. Deliveries shall only be accepted at the premises during the daytime.

9. The current local authority, or similar, proof-of-age scheme shall be
operated at the premises and the relevant literature shall be displayed.

10. The rear door of the premises shall be secured and alarmed.

11. A prominent, clear and legible notice shall be displayed at the exit
requesting the public to respect the needs of local residents and to leave the
premises and the area quietly.

Page 106



12. There shall be displayed on the exit doors a sign stating, "you are
entering a drinking control area and no open alcoholic drinks are to be taken
off the premises".

13. Unaccompanied children under 14 shall not be allowed to enter or
remain on the premises between the hours of 21:00 and 06:00.

Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority

Not applicable

Page 107



Annex 4 – Plans

Page 108



Annex 1 – Mandatory Conditions

Mandatory conditions where the licence authorises the sale of alcohol
(Note: Conditions 4, 5, and 7 relate to on-sales only)

These Mandatory Conditions form part of the Operating Schedule of your licence. You 
must ensure that the operation of the licensed premises complies with these 
Mandatory Conditions, as well as the Conditions stated in Annex 2 and Annex 3 (if 
applicable). Failure to do this can lead to prosecution or review of the licence.

1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises
supervisor in respect of this licence.

2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor
does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended.

3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who
holds a personal licence.

4. (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out,
arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.
(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following
activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale
or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises
(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or
encourage, individuals to;
(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied
on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is
authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or
(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);
(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted
fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries
a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or
reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the
vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or
glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable
manner;
(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where
that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a disability).

5. The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to
customers where it is reasonably available.

6. (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an
age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply
of alcohol.
(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that
the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification
policy.

Page 109



(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18
years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request,
before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either -
(a) a holographic mark, or
(b) an ultraviolet feature.

7. The responsible person must ensure that –
(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance
ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the
following measures -
(i) beer or cider: ½ pint;
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;
(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is
available to customers on the premises; and
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol
to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise
licence in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any
individual aged 18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated
premises supervisor. For premises with a club premises certificate, any member or officer of
the club present on the premises in a capacity that which enables him to prevent the supply
of alcohol.

8 (i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or 
off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.
(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above -
(a) "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;
(b) "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula -
P = D+(DxV)
Where -
(i) P is the permitted price,
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged
on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value added
tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;
(c) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
premises licence -
(i) the holder of the premises licence,
(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a
licence;
(d) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and
(e) "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added
Tax Act 1994.
(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall
be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest
penny.
(iv). (1) Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph
8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the
next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax.

Page 110



(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second
day.

Supply of alcohol under a Club Premises Certificate
The mandatory conditions 4 to 8 above will apply. If the club premises certificate authorises 
the supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises, the following three mandatory 
conditions must also be included:
1. The supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be made at a time when the
premises are open for the purposes of supplying alcohol to members of the club for
consumption on the premises.
2. Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be in a sealed container.
3. Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be made to a member of the
club in person.

Supply of alcohol from community premises
The following mandatory condition will replace the first three mandatory conditions above 
when an application is made for a premises licence by the management committee of 
community premises and the licensing authority also grants an application for this alternative 
licence condition to be included in the licence:
1. Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by the
[management committee / management board / board of trustees].

Mandatory condition when a premises licence or a club premises certificate 
authorises the exhibition of films
9. Admission of children to the premises must be restricted in accordance with the film
classification recommended by the British Board of Film Classification or recommended by
this licensing authority as appropriate.

Mandatory Condition relating to door supervision which only applies where a 
premises licence includes a condition that one or more individuals must be at the 
premises to carry out a security activity
10. All persons guarding premises against unauthorised access or occupation or against
outbreaks of disorder or against damage (door supervisors) must be licensed by the Security
Industry Authority.

Page 111



Part 2 - Applicant details 

I am 
Please tick  
yes 

1) an individual, body or business which is not a responsible
authority (please read guidance note 1, and complete (A)
or (B) below)

London Borough of Enfield  

Application for the Review of a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST 

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the 
form.  If you are completing this form by hand please write legibly in block 
capitals. In all cases ensure that your answers are inside the boxes and 
written in black ink. Use additional sheets if necessary.  You may wish to keep 
a copy of the completed form for your records.  

I Charlotte Palmer, Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer 
  (Insert name of applicant) 

apply for the review of a premises licence under section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 
for the premises described in Part 1 below 

Part 1 – Premises or club premises details  
Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference 
or description 

Southgate Food Centre, 30-32 Chase Side 

Post town  

Southgate 

Post code (if known) 

N14 5PA 

Name of premises licence holder or club holding club premises 
certificate (if known) 

Mr Baris Kisa 

Number of premises licence or club premises certificate (if known) 

LN/200501160 

Annex BPage 112



 
2) a responsible authority (please complete (C) below) X 
 
3) a member of the club to which this application relates  
(please complete (A) below) 

    

 
(A) DETAILS OF INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (fill in as applicable) 
 
Please tick  yes 
 
Mr  Mrs  Miss  Ms  Other 

title 
      

 (for example, Rev) 
 
Surname  First names 
   

  Please tick  yes 
I am 18 years old or over 
 

 
 
Current 
postal  
address if  
different 
from 
premises 
address 

 

 Post town  Post Code  

 Daytime contact telephone number       
 E-mail address   

 
(B)  DETAILS OF OTHER APPLICANT 
 
Name and address 
      

Telephone number (if any) 
      
E-mail address       

Page 113



 (C)  DETAILS OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY APPLICANT 
 
 Name and address 
 
Charlotte Palmer, Licensing Team 
B Block South, Civic Centre, Silver Street, Enfield, EN1 3XA 
 
Telephone number (if any):   
      
E-mail address:    

 
This application to review relates to the following licensing objective(s) 
 
 Please tick one or more 

boxes  
1) the prevention of crime and disorder 

 
X 

2) public safety 
 

X 

3) the prevention of public nuisance 
 

X 

4) the protection of children from harm 
 

X 

Page 114



Please state the ground(s) for review (please read guidance note 2) 
 
Enfield Licensing Authority is seeking a review of this premises licence on the grounds that 
the premises has been found to be selling nitrous oxide to customers recklessly.  This 
recklessness is in the form of failing to carry out any due diligence checks to ascertain 
whether the psychoactive substance is likely to be consumed by the person to whom it is 
supplied for its psychoactive effects. This is despite advice having been provided to the 
licence holder via letter, phone and in person.    
 
The licence holder has also failed to demonstrate compliance with licence conditions and 
failed to notify the licensing team of his change of address. 
 
This review is based on all four of the licensing objectives.   
 
The review application is to revoke the premises licence in its entirety. 
 
What is Nitrous Oxide? 
 
Nitrous oxide (N2O) is a colourless sweet-tasting gas often referred to as ‘laughing gas’.   
 
Nitrous oxide has several legitimate uses in medicine, dentistry and also in the catering 
industry.  It is most commonly found in pressurised metal canisters often known as ‘cream 
chargers’ and used for producing whipped cream.  In order to inhale the gas the canister is 
opened and the gas transferred into a container (usually a balloon).  The gas is then inhaled 
from the container/balloon.  Inhaling nitrous oxide directly from the canister is very 
dangerous as the gas is under high pressure and the user could stop breathing if there were 
to do this.  Shops that sell nitrous oxide for recreational use therefore often also sell packets 
of balloons. 

FRANK (a national anti-drug advisory service jointly established by the Department of Health 
and Home Office) lists the following physical health risks of inhaling nitrous oxide: 

• It is very dangerous to inhale nitrous oxide directly from the canister,and doing it in 
an enclosed space is also very dangerous. 

• Never place a plastic bag over your head. 
• If you take too much nitrous oxide you risk falling unconscious and/or suffocating 

from the lack of oxygen. People have died this way. 
• Dizziness, which might make you act carelessly or dangerously. 
• Heavy regular use of nitrous oxide can lead to a deficiency of vitamin B12 and to a 

form of anaemia. Severe B12 deficiency can lead to serious nerve damage, causing 
tingling and numbness in the fingers and toes. This can be very painful and make 
walking difficult. It can even lead to paralysis, and the damage may be lasting. 

• Regular use can stop you forming white blood cells properly. 
• It can be hard to judge the amount to use safely. If you have too much you can end 

up fainting, having an accident or worse. 
(https://www.talktofrank.com/drug/nitrous-oxide?a=Nitrous%20oxide#the-risks) 
 
Figures from the Office of National Statistics state that on average five people a year die 
after inhaling nitrous oxide and it caused 25 fatalities between 2010 and 2016,. (Reference: 
https://www.theguardian.com/society/nitrous-oxide-laughing-gas, 21st May 2019)  
 
This demonstrates how the sale of nitrous oxide for recreational purposes undermines the 
Public Safety licensing objective. 
   

Page 115

https://www.talktofrank.com/drug/nitrous-oxide?a=Nitrous%20oxide#the-risks


 
Although nitrous oxide can be sold legally when sold for a legitimate use, the supply, or offer 
to supply or possession with intent to supply for recreational misuse is an offence.  
 
The Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 came into force in May 2016.  The act bans 
psychoactive substances, also known as ‘legal highs’, in the UK and prevents the supply of 
these previously unregulated and frequently harmful substances for human consumption. 
 
The supply and offer to supply offences (section 5 of the act) are the most relevant parts of 
the act for retailers. The offence of supply is outlined below: 
 
• A person intentionally supplies a substance to another person 
• The substance is a psychoactive substance 
• The person knows or suspects, or ought to know or suspect, that the substance is a 

psychoactive substance 
• The retailer knows or is reckless about whether the psychoactive substance is likely to 

be consumed by the person to whom it is supplied, or by some other person, for its 
psychoactive effects 

 
The use of nitrous oxide is often associated with antisocial behaviour.  There are also 
concerns about the effects of people inhaling nitrous oxide and then driving.   
 
The Government Anti-Social Behaviour Action Plan is due to come into force in 2024 with 
the aim of cracking down on anti-social behaviour.  A press release dated 26/03/23 states: 
 
Under the zero-tolerance approach, Nitrous oxide or “laughing gas” will also be banned to 
send a clear message to intimidating gangs, that hang around high streets and children’s 
parks and litter them with empty canisters, they will not get away with this behaviour. The 
drug is now the third most used among 16 to 24-year-olds in England and both the police 
and public have repeatedly reported links between use of the drug and nuisance or anti-
social behaviour. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/action-plan-to-crack-down-on-anti-social-behaviour  
 
This demonstrates how the sale of nitrous oxide for recreational purposes undermines the 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder licensing objective and the Prevention of Public Nuisance 
licensing objective.   
 
Please provide as much information as possible to support the application (please 
read guidance note 3) 
 
 
Premises Licence LN/200501160 – Background History: 
 
This premises licence was transferred to the current Premises Licence Holder - Mr Baris 
Kisa on 21/05/2019. A vary Designated Premises Supervisor application was granted at the 
same time.  The Premises Licence Holder is also the DPS. 
 
The licence currently permits the following activities:  
 
Licensable Activity  Times 
Opening Hours 24 hours everyday 
Sale of Alcohol (off sales) 24 hours everyday 
Late Night Refreshment 23:00 – 05:00 everyday 

 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/action-plan-to-crack-down-on-anti-social-behaviour


 
27/07/22 – Trading Standards received a complaint alleging that this premises was selling 
nitrous oxide in large cannisters to members of the public. 
 
29/07/22 – Trading Standards sent an email to the Premises Licence Holder regarding the 
allegation received.  The email included a letter providing a summary of the legislation 
regarding the sale of nitrous oxide and how to prevent illegal sales of nitrous oxide.  The 
letter included the following warning: 
‘It is a criminal offence for Retailers to sell nitrous oxide to customers of any age 
where the retailer knows or is reckless about whether the psychoactive substance 
(e.g. nitrous oxide) is likely to be consumed by the person to whom it is supplied (e.g. 
persons under the age of 18 years old), or by some other person, for its psychoactive 
effects. If prosecuted, you may be fined.’ 
Also attached to the email was information from the gov.uk website - Psychoactive 
Substances Act 2016: guidance for retailers.  See Appendix 1. 
 
04/08/22 - Whilst conducting an Operation CeCe (illicit tobacco), inspection at a nearby 
premises Trading Standards Officer saw a nitrous oxide cannister situated on the pavement 
outside this premises. 
 
04/10/22 – The premises was visited by Trading Standards Officers as part of Operation 
Cece. No illicit tobacco seized.  However nitrous oxide was found for sale.  As part of the 
visit the owner of the premises was spoken to on the phone by one of the Trading Standards 
Officers in relation to the sale of nitrous oxide.   He was told not to sell it to anyone under the 
age of 18 years or to anyone who might misuse it.  The owner confirmed that he had 
received the advice letter sent previously.  Officers left the following at the premises –  
• An advisory letter for retailers and producers of e-cigarette and Nicotine containing e-

liquid products. 
• A leaflet explaining the law relating to Tobacco packaging, labelling, advertising and 

tracking. 
• A leaflet explaining the law in relation to tobacco and nicotine inhaling products. 
• An advice leaflet for retailers of e-cigarettes and nicotine-containing e-liquids from the 

Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency.   
See Appendix 2. 
 
21/11/22 - 10:50 - 11:25 – A Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) visited the 
premises and carried out a full licence inspection with the Premises Licence Holder.  The 
following conditions were not being complied with: 
Condition 2&3 - Staff training to be carried out every 3 months and to be documented. 
Condition 4 - Licence summary (Part B) to be displayed. 
Condition 9 - Think 25 poster to be displayed. 
Condition 11 - Leave quietly poster to be displayed. 
Many posters had been covered up by stock so could not be seen.  Officer agreed to email 
new posters/training books to premises licence holder.  Discussed sale of nitrous oxide - 
advised illegal to sell for human consumption.  Premises Licence Holder claimed he asks 
customers what they are buying it for and only sells when it’s for making cakes.  Large 
cannister seen, kept under the counter - can appears to be for catering purposes - spray 
cream.  Balloons also seen on sale.  Photos taken.  Premises Licence Holder home address 
had changed.  Advised to contact the licensing team to update his details.  The officer 
advised he would also need to update his personal licence with the borough which issued it.  
Given 14 days to comply.  See Appendix 3. 
 
22/11/22 – Officer (CPX) emailed resources to Premises Licence Holder to assist with 
licence compliance. 

Page 117



24/11/22 – Operation Cece inspection conducted by Trading Standards.  No illegal tobacco 
found.  Large cannisters of nitrous oxide and small cannisters of nitrous oxide stored behind 
shop counter.  Photos taken.  See Appendix 4. 
 
28/11/22 – Resources resent in a different format as Premises Licence Holder unable to 
open them.   
 
11/01/23 – A Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) wrote to the Premises Licence 
Holder and asked that, in order to help tackle the problem of anti-social behaviour, they, as a 
responsible retailer, cease selling all nitrous oxide and amend their premises licence 
conditions to reflect this.  The letter included a document showing suggested amendments 
and additions to the licence conditions.  If agreeable they were asked to apply for a minor 
variation to amend their licence by Friday 27th January 2023.  No such application was 
submitted.  See Appendix 5. 
 
17/04/23 – Trading Standards received an allegation that this premises supplies "Fast Gas" 
nitrous oxide to children and young adults.  If true, this undermines the Protection of Children 
from Harm licensing objective. The complainant supplied photos showing at least nine large 
cannisters of nitrous oxide on the ground in an alleyway opposite the premises along with 
empty bottles, bits of burst/deflated balloons and two cardboard boxes which would have 
contained nitrous oxide cannisters.  If sold by this premises this undermines the Prevention 
of Public Nuisance licensing objective.  The complainant also submitted a photo of a vehicle 
in which nitrous oxide was allegedly being stored.  See Appendix 6. (The police have 
confirmed that the vehicle photographed belong to the shop). 
 
05/05/23 – Trading Standards received a complainant from a local resident regarding noise 
from youngsters allegedly inhaling nitrous oxide in a loading bay near the front of this 
premises.  The complainant alleged the nitrous oxide was sold by local premises and 
provided images taken on 04/05/23.  In two of the photos the location can be identified as 
McDonalds and other premises can be seen in the background.  See Appendix 7. 
 
10/05/23 – 11:37 – At the direction of Trading Standards an officer entered the premises to 
see if they would be sold nitrous oxide and whether any checks would be carried out by staff 
to see why they wanted to buy it.  The officer was sold a large cannister of nitrous oxide 
without question for £20.  After the sale the officer went back into the shop and took a photo 
of the male who served him.  The officer later took a photo of the nitrous oxide cannister.  
See Appendix 8.  The Licensing Authority is of the opinion that this sale was reckless.   
 
22/05/23 – 11:40 – 12:25 – Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) attended the 
premises with PC Ewart and PC Haynes from the Police Licensing Team to carry out a full 
licence inspection.   
The following conditions were not being complied with: 
Conditions 2 & 3 – Staff member could not remember when he was last trained or how 
often it should be done, no training records available.   
Conditions 4 – Part B of licence not on display – 1 page of Part A on the wall. 
Condition 5 – Unable to check CCTV as monitor was not working. 
Condition 9 – Staff not sure what ‘Think 25’ meant.  Poster was on display.  Officer 
explained.   
Condition 11 – Advised to relocate ‘Leave Quietly’ poster so it was close to the door and so 
people read it as they leave the premises rather than having it facing outwards.  
  
Premises Licence Holder/DPS still had not updated his address on the Premises Licence. 
Advised via phone to do so and that due to a recent alleged reckless sale of nitrous oxide a 
premises licence review would be submitted soon.  Advised to get legal advice once 
received. 

Page 118



  
Most of the conditions which were not being complied with are the same conditions that were 
not being complied with when the previous inspection took place in November 2022. 
 
There were five boxes of Fast Gas nitrous oxide behind the counter (six cannisters per box) 
and four loose cannisters on the shelf opposite.  There was also one box of Gold Whip 
nitrous oxide (six cannisters per box) behind the same counter.  There were packets of 
balloons on a shelf under the counter and also hanging up opposite the counter.  The 
officers spoke at length to a member of staff called Mr Zeek Ahmad about the dangers of 
nitrous oxide and who it could and couldn’t be sold to.  At times it seemed he did not 
understand the seriousness of recklessly selling nitrous oxide.  Officers stressed the dangers 
of inhaling nitrous oxide and also the consequences for the business of recklessly selling 
nitrous oxide.  He said that the council had not warned them of this (you will see from 
Appendix 2 that Mr Zeek Ahmad was actually the member of staff Trading Standards Officer 
saw in the premises on 04/10/22 and that he signed the report which mentions concerns 
around the sale of nitrous oxide).    He was advised that letters and information had been 
sent previously.  When asked he said that there was no more nitrous oxide in the premises 
but when officers looked around five more boxes (six cannister per box) of Fast Gas were 
found in the toilet area.  Empty boxes were being used to store some good near the counter 
and two flattened box were being used to protect a table at the back the premises.   

Whilst in the premises the police officers witnessed a male enter and walk past the packets 
of party balloons, up to the counter and say to staff “got any balloons mate?” He then saw 
the police officers and backed up, grabbed a packet of balloons from the display, bought 
them and as he left said “it’s alright mate I’m a chef” and laughed.  

See Appendix 9 for report and photos. 

Premises Licence Holder / DPS change of home address 
 
As shown below section 33 of the Licensing Act 2003 states there is a legal requirement to 
update name and address details: 
 

 
Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Dec 2022) states: 
‘Specification of new designated premises supervisors 
4.61 Every premises licence that authorises the sale of alcohol must specify a DPS. This will 
normally be the person who has been given day to day responsibility for running the 
premises by the premises licence holder’.  

Page 119



 
23/05/23 – A search of Companies House shows that Mr Baris Kisa is the only Director of 
the business.  However it lists his country of residence as Wales.  The Licensing Authority 
would question how he is able to have day to day responsibility for running the premises if 
he lives in Wales and whether this is the reason he did not update his address details when 
advised that he must do so.  See Appendix 10. 

 
Conclusion: 
 
Complaints have been received alleging that this premises sells nitrous oxide to members of 
the public, including children who then inhale it in the nearby area leaving litter and causing 
anti-social behaviour.      
 
An advice letter regarding the sale of nitrous oxide was sent to the premises in July 2022, 
which the premises licence holder confirmed he received.  He has also been advised about 
nitrous oxide over the phone and in person.  The licence holder was written to and asked to 
voluntarily amend his premises licence to add a condition preventing him from selling nitrous 
oxide in January 2023 which he did not do.  Despite all this, a test purchase in May 2023 
resulted in the sale of nitrous oxide without any questions being asked by the seller.  During 
the most recent visit officers found a large quantity of nitrous oxide behind the counter and 
when asked if there was more were lied to by staff.  By the end of this visit officers had found 
70 cannister of nitrous oxide on the premises.  If each cannister is sold for the same price as 
the cannister sold during the test purchase i.e., £20 these cannisters have a value of £1400. 
At least five empty nitrous oxide boxes were also seen during the most recent visit.   
 
The Licensing Authority does not believe that the nitrous oxide is being sold for catering 
purposes.  The Licensing Authority is of the opinion that this premises is recklessly selling 
nitrous oxide for recreational use as a psychoactive drug and that this undermines all four 
licensing objectives.   
 
Licence inspections have shown a failure to comply with licence conditions and the licence 
holder has failed to update his home address on the premises licence.  These are alleged 
offences under the Licensing Act 2003.   
 
The Licensing Authority has no confidence in the ability or willingness of the licence holder 
or his staff to uphold the licensing objectives and therefore recommends that this premises 
licence be revoked.   
  
If the Licensing Committee is not minded to revoke the licence in its entirety then the 
Licensing Authority would recommend that the Committee consider suspending the 
premises licence until such time as full compliance with the licence conditions has been 
demonstrated by the Premises Licence Holder, his address details have been updated, a 
new DPS has been named on the licence and that the licence condition be amended as 
follows: 
 

 
Current Licence Conditions 

 
1. There shall be no adult entertainment or services, activities or matters ancillary to the 
use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children. 
 
2. All staff shall receive induction and refresher training (at least every three months) 
relating to the sale of alcohol. 
 

Page 120



3. All training relating to the sale of alcohol shall be documented and records kept at the 
premises. These records shall be made available to the Police and /or Local Authority upon 
request and shall be kept for at least one year.  
 
4. A Premises Licence summary shall be displayed at each public entrance to the 
premises. 
Remove – this is already a legal requirement. 
 
5. A CCTV system shall be installed, operated and maintained at the premises. CCTV 
cameras shall monitor all alcohol display areas, the front entrance door and the outside of 
the premises and the recordings shall be to the agreed image standard. The medium on 
which the images are recorded shall be clearly identifiable, securely stored and retained for 
not less than 31-days. Recordings shall be made available to authorised officers on request. 
The system shall be compliant with the Data Protection Act. 
 
6. Known trouble-makers shall be barred from the premises.  
 
7. Fire, safety and emergency equipment and procedures shall be operated and 
maintained at the premises.  
Remove – this is covered by other legislation. 
 
8. Deliveries shall only be accepted at the premises during the daytime. 
Amend to: Deliveries shall only be accepted at the premises between 7am and 7pm. 
 
9. The current local authority, or similar, proof-of-age scheme shall be operated at the 
premises and the relevant literature shall be displayed. 
Amend to:  A 'Think 25' proof of age scheme shall be operated, and relevant material shall 
be displayed at the premises. 
 
10. The rear door of the premises shall be secured and alarmed.  
 
11.  A prominent, clear and legible notice shall be displayed at the exit requesting the 
public to respect the needs of local residents and to leave the premises and the area quietly. 
 
12. There shall be displayed on the exit doors a sign stating, "you are entering a drinking 
control area and no open alcoholic drinks are to be taken off the premises". 
Amend to:  Signs shall be prominently displayed on the exit doors advising customers that 
the premises is in a Public Space Protection Order Area (or similar) and that they should not 
consume alcohol in the street if requested to stop by an authorised person.  These notices 
shall be positioned at eye level and in a location where they can be read by those leaving 
the premises. 
 
13. Unaccompanied children under 14 shall not be allowed to enter or remain on the 
premises between the hours of 21:00 and 06:00. 
 
Add: 

i. Nitrous oxide (laughing gas) shall not be stored or sold to consumers from the 
premises, or any vehicles or store rooms associated with the premises.   

 
ii. A record of refused sales shall be kept on the premises and completed when 

necessary. This record shall contain the date and time of the refusal, a description of 
the customer, the name of the staff member who refused the sale, and the reason 
the sale was refused.  This record shall be made available to Police and/or the Local 
Authority upon request of within 48 hours for any online training and shall be kept for 
at least one year from the date of the last entry. 

Page 121



 
iii.  The Designated Premises Supervisor shall regularly check the refusals system to 

ensure it is being consistently used by all staff. 
 

iv. Only the Premises Licence Holder or Designated Premises Supervisor shall 
purchase alcohol and/or tobacco stock. 
 

v. Alcohol and tobacco stock shall only be purchased from registered wholesalers. 
 

vi. The premises licence holder shall ensure that all receipts for goods bought are kept 
together in a file or folder as evidence that they have been brought into the UK 
through legal channels.  Receipts shall show the following details: (1) Seller's name 
and address; (2) Seller's company details, if applicable; (3) Seller's VAT details, if 
applicable.  Copies of these documents shall be retained for no less than 12 months 
and shall be made available to police or authorised officers of the council on request 
within five working days of the request.  The most recent three months’ worth of 
receipts shall be kept on the premises and made available to the police or authorised 
officers of the council on request. 

 
vii. All tobacco products which are not on the tobacco display shall be stored in a 

container clearly marked ‘Tobacco Stock’.  This container shall be kept within the 
storeroom or behind the sales counter.   

 
viii. Tobacco products shall only be taken from the tobacco display behind the sales 

counter in order to make a sale. 
 
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to add any additional information to support this 
review application. 
 
 
Please tick  yes  
Have you made an application for review relating to the 
premises before 

 

 
 
If yes please state the date of that application Day Month Year 

                
 

 

 
If you have made representations before relating to the premises please 
state what they were and when you made them 
      
 
 
 
 
Please tick  yes 
 

• I have sent copies of this form and enclosures to the 
responsible authorities and the premises licence holder or 
club holding the club premises certificate, as appropriate 

 

• I understand that if I do not comply with the above 
requirements my application will be rejected 

 

Page 122



 
IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, 
TO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS 
APPLICATION. THOSE WHO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT MAY BE 
LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT.   
 
Part 3 – Signatures   (please read guidance note 4) 
 
Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised 
agent (please read guidance note 5). If signing on behalf of the applicant 
please state in what capacity. 
 

Signature
 
 
Date             31/05/23 
 
Capacity      Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer 
 
 
Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for 
correspondence associated with this application (please read guidance 
note 6) 
      

Post town 
      

Post Code 
      

Telephone number (if any)        
E-mail address        

 
Notes for Guidance  

1. A responsible authority includes the local police, fire and rescue 
authority and other statutory bodies which exercise specific functions in 
the local area. 

2. The ground(s) for review must be based on one of the licensing 
objectives. 

3. Please list any additional information or details for example dates of 
problems which are included in the grounds for review if available. 

4. The application form must be signed. 
5. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their 

behalf provided that they have actual authority to do so. 
6. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about 

this application. 
 

Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



LICENSING AUTHORITY REPRESENTATION 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

Name and address of premises:   Southgate Food Centre 
30-32 Chase Side, Southgate, N14 5PA

Type of Application: Review of Premises Licence 

Detailed below is information not previously included in the review application 
submitted on 31/05/2023: 

31/05/23 – 11:30 – 11:45 - Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer (CPX) entered 
premises, delivered review application and put review notice up outside the premises.  
They then checked the outstanding licence conditions.  The following were still not 
compliant: 
Condition 2 and 3 – Training records were not available, so no evidence training had 
been carried out. 
Condition 4 – Part B of the licence was not on display. 
Conditions 5 – CCTV monitor was still not working so unable to check CCTV.   
The PLH/DPS still had not updated his home address details with the Licensing Team. 
The officer looked behind the counter and did not see any nitrous oxide.   
See Appendix 11. 

Officer attempted to email a copy of the review to the PLH but it could not be delivered 
as their mailbox was full even when the officer attempted to send it in two parts.   

06/06/23 – Premises Licence Holder contacted the Licensing Team and changed his 
home address to:  32A Chase Side, London, N14 5PA 

13/06/23 – Council Tax checks carried out.  Baris Kisa is not registered at this address, 
nor has he been registered at this address previously.   

The Licensing Authority requests that the Premises Licence Holder provide a formal 
document proving that he is registered as living at this address.   

22/06/23 – Complaint from member of the public alleging this premises sells nitrous 
oxide and balloons to those under the age of 18 years.   

30/06/23 – 23:18 – 00:13 Out of Hours Licensing Enforcement Officers (EB/DD) carried 
out observations of the premises.  One white van seen outside premises.  Could not 
see inside the van.  No one seen going to the van during observations.  No nitrous 
oxide cannisters seen in the street outside premises at this time.   

Duly Authorised: Charlotte Palmer, Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer  

Contact:  

Signed:    Date: 11/07/23 

Annex CPage 204



 

Page 205



Annex D 
 

Other Party Representation 
 
OP1 Representation: 
 
Re: Southgate Food Centre, 30-32 Chase Side, LONDON, N14 5PA 
 
Dear Sir / Madam,  
 
I am writing to you to support the review of the licence of the above premises and 
believe that their licence should be revoked for the reasons I state below. 
 
Prevent Crime and Disorder – the premises has been seen by residents selling 
nitrous oxide for improper use and consumption which is not only illegal but creates 
disorder due to its psychoactive effects and a change in behaviour of those who 
consume it.  
 
Prevention of public nuisance – From the sale of the nitrous oxide by this 
premises, nitrous oxide canisters are littered on the surrounding pavement of the 
store. Furthermore, there are sacks dumped at the front of their store constantly – it 
would not take a genius to conclude that they are flytipping their waste.  
 
Prevention of harm – selling of nitrous oxide to consume which can have a 
devastating impact on one’s health.  
 
Protection of children of harm – making nitrous oxide gas readily available to 
those who wish to use it improperly, including those under 18.  
 
Please take the above into consideration.  
 
Kind regards,  
 
Cllr Elisa Morreale  
The Conservative Party  
Southgate Ward  
 
 
Video also included, see separate link here 

Page 206



Annex E 
 

Proposed Conditions Arising From the Application 
 
Annex 1 - Mandatory Conditions 

The Mandatory Conditions are attached and form part of the Operating Schedule of 
your licence/certificate. You must ensure that the operation of the licensed premises 
complies with the attached Mandatory Conditions as well as the Conditions in Annex 
2 and Annex 3 (if applicable). Failure to do this can lead to prosecution or review of 
the licence. 

Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule 

1. There shall be no adult entertainment or services, activities or matters ancillary to 
the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children.  
 

2. All staff shall receive induction and refresher training (at least every three months) 
relating to the sale of alcohol.  

3. All training relating to the sale of alcohol shall be documented and records kept at 
the premises. These records shall be made available to the Police and /or Local 
Authority upon request and shall be kept for at least one year.  
 
5. A CCTV system shall be installed, operated and maintained at the premises. 
CCTV cameras shall monitor all alcohol display areas, the front entrance door and 
the outside of the premises and the recordings shall be to the agreed image 
standard. The medium on which the images are recorded shall be clearly identifiable, 
securely stored and retained for not less than 31-days. Recordings shall be made 
available to authorised officers on request. The system shall be compliant with the 
Data Protection Act.  
 
6. Known troublemakers shall be barred from the premises.  
 
7. The rear door of the premises shall be secured and alarmed.  
 
8. A prominent, clear and legible notice shall be displayed at the exit requesting the 
public to respect the needs of local residents and to leave the premises and the area 
quietly.  
 
9. Unaccompanied children under 14 shall not be allowed to enter or remain on the 
premises between the hours of 21:00 and 06:00.  
 
 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS ARE PROPOSED BY THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY, NOT AGREED BY APPLICANT:  
 
10. Deliveries shall only be accepted at the premises between 7am and 7pm.  
 

Page 207



11. A 'Think 25' proof of age scheme shall be operated, and relevant material shall 
be displayed at the premises.  
 
12. Signs shall be prominently displayed on the exit doors advising customers that 
the premises is in a Public Space Protection Order Area (or similar) and that they 
should not consume alcohol in the street if requested to stop by an authorised 
person. These notices shall be positioned at eye level and in a location where they 
can be read by those leaving the premises.  
 
13. Nitrous oxide (laughing gas) shall not be stored or sold to consumers from the 
premises, or any vehicles or storerooms associated with the premises.  
 
14. A record of refused sales shall be kept on the premises and completed when 
necessary. This record shall contain the date and time of the refusal, a description of 
the customer, the name of the staff member who refused the sale, and the reason 
the sale was refused. This record shall be made available to Police and/or the Local 
Authority upon request of within 48 hours for any online training and shall be kept for 
at least one year from the date of the last entry.  
 

Page 208


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Maxi Food & Wine - 38 Chase Side, Southgate, N14 5PA
	1. LSC Report Maxi Food & Wine Review
	Item
	Agenda - Part
	1.1 The premises has been previously known as Station Stores, and Royal News before being named Maxi Food & Wine.
	1.2 On 23 June 2006, a new premises licence application which was not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Mr Kandasamy Nirmalan as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH) and also as the Design...
	1.3 On 27 May 2011, a transfer application which was not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Mr Gurdeep Singh Kahlon as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and also became the DPS.
	1.4 On 6 September 2021, a transfer application which was not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Mr Dervis Altun as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and also became the DPS.
	1.5 On 12 May 2021, Mr Dervis Altun surrendered premises licence LN/200600265, as he stated he had not been owner of this premises for some time.
	1.6 On 7 June 2021, a transfer application which was not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Mrs Aylin Yengin as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and also became the DPS. The transfer a...
	1.7 On 26 October 2022, Trading Standards submitted a review of premises licence LN/200600265. The review application was been submitted as Trading Standards believes that Mrs Aylin Yengin was not promoting the prevention of crime and disorder licensi...
	 illicit tobacco has been seized from the premises;
	 breaches of licence conditions;
	 selling non-compliant vapes and e-cigarettes;
	 selling Viagra and Sildenafil without a medical registration from MHRA;
	 selling drug paraphernalia;
	 selling nitrous oxide (known as NOx).
	1.8 On Monday 12 December 2022, a transfer and vary DPS application was  submitted to the Licensing Team, naming Ms Nuray Ozdemir as both the new premises licence holder and DPS. It is now known that Ms Ozdemir is the sister of Mr Kemal Altun.
	1.9 The Licensing Sub-Committee determined the review application at a hearing on 4 January 2023, and the decision was made to suspend the licence for 3 months, and to modify the conditions.
	1.10 The link to the full licensing sub-committee report for the review application, decision and minutes can be found on the council website here: https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=217&MId=14480&Ver=4
	1.11 A copy of the decision notice is attached as Annex A.
	1.12 Later on 4 January 2023, the transfer and vary DPS application which were not subject to any representations, were granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Ms Nuray Ozdemir as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and also the...
	1.13 All premises licences are due to pay an annual fee. At the time of preparing this report, the premises licence LN/200600265  annual fee was overdue since 27 June 2023, despite a reminder being sent on 1 May 2023. In accordance with Section 55A of...
	1.14 The current premises licence LN/200600265 permits:
	1.14.1 The hours the premises are open to the public: 06:30 to 23:00 daily.
	1.14.2  Supply of alcohol (off supplies only): 06:30 to 23:00 daily.

	1.15 A copy of the current premises licence LN/200600265 is attached as Annex B.
	1.16 Enfield Licensing Team were made aware of a premises licence review in the London Borough of Haringey, which have links to between persons at Maxxi Food & Wine 42 Topsfield Parade, London, N8 (Haringey) and this premises, Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Cha...
	2.0  This Application:
	2.1  On 30 May 2023 an application was made by Enfield Council’s Licensing Authority for the review of Premises Licence LN/200600265 and is produced in Annex C.
	2.2   Additional Information was provided by the Licensing Authority to further support their representation and a copy is produced in Annex D.
	2.3   The review application has been submitted as the Licensing Authority believes the four licensing objectives are being undermined as the following unlawful activity is taking place at/from the premises:
	 sales of nitrous oxide are still being recklessly made from the premises, despite this being conditioned on the premises licence.
	 breaches of licence conditions;
	 selling non-compliant vapes and e-cigarettes;
	2.5   The review application seeks to revoke the premises licence in its entirety.
	2.6  The review application was advertised in accordance with the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003.
	2.7   Each of the Responsible Authorities were consulted in respect of the application.
	4.0  Proposed Licence Conditions:
	5.0 Relevant Law, Guidance & Policies:
	5.1 The paragraphs below are extracted from either :
	5.1.1 the Licensing Act 2003 (‘Act’); or
	5.1.2 the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State to the Home Office of April 2018 (‘Guid’); or
	5.1.3 the London Borough of Enfield’s Licensing Policy Statement of January 2020 (‘Pol’).

	5.2 The Licensing Sub-Committee must carry out its functions with a view to promoting the licensing objectives [Act s.4(1)].
	5.3The licensing objectives are :
	5.3.1 the prevention of crime and disorder;
	5.3.2 public safety;
	5.3.3the prevention of public nuisance; &
	5.3.4the protection of children from harm [Act s.4(2)].

	5.4 In carrying out its functions, the Sub-Committee must also have regard to :
	5.4.1 the Council’s licensing policy statement; &
	5.4.2 guidance issued by the Secretary of State [Act s.4(3)].

	5.5 In reviewing a licence the Licensing Sub-Committee will consider, and take into account, the complaints history of the premises and all other relevant information [Pol s.10.3].
	5.6 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly connected with licensable activities, for example the sale of contraband goods. The Sub-Committee does not have the power to judge the criminality or otherwise of any issu...
	5.7 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises which should be treated particularly seriously. These include the use of the premises for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol [Guid s.11.27].
	5.8 Where reviews arise in respect of these criminal activities and the Sub-Committee determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined, it is expected that revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be seriously ...
	5.10 Having heard all of the representations (from all parties) the Licensing Sub-Committee must take such steps as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. The steps are :
	5.10.1 to modify the conditions of the licence;
	5.10.2 to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
	5.10.3 to remove the designated premises supervisor
	5.10.4 to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;
	5.10.5 to revoke the licence [Act s.52].


	2. Annex A - Decision Notice
	APPEAL

	3. Annex A - Decision Notice - Annex A - Amended Conditions 4.1.23
	4. Annex B - Premises Licence
	5. Annex C Review application form - Maxi Food & Wine
	6. Annex C - Appendix 1-13
	Appendix 1
	APPEAL

	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3a
	Appendix 3b
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8
	Appendix 9
	Appendix 10a
	Appendix 10b
	Appendix 10c
	Appendix 10d
	Appendix 10e
	Appendix 11a
	Appendix 12
	Appendix 13

	7. Annex D - Licensing Authority Additional Information
	LICENSING AUTHORITY REPRESENTATION
	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

	8. Annex D - Appendix 14-16
	Appendix 14a
	Appendix 14b
	Appendix 15
	Appendix 16

	9. Annex E - Police Suporting Rep
	10. Annex F - Cllr supporting representation
	Annex F
	Other Party Representation
	OP1 Representation:
	Premises: Maxi Food & Wine, 38 Chase Side, LONDON, N14 5PA WK/223017276 LDR: 28/06/2023 Officer initials:RXM


	5 Southgate Food Centre - 30-32 Chase Side, LONDON, N14 5PA
	1. LSC Report Southgate Food Centre
	Item
	Agenda - Part
	1.1 The premises has been previously known as Southgate General Store, and Costcutter before being named Maxi Food & Wine.
	1.2 On 16 August 2005, a conversion premises licence application which was not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Mr G Sahar as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH) and also as the Designat...
	1.3 On 17 April May 2012, a transfer application and vary DPS which were not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Mr Murat Ceviz as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and also the DPS.
	1.4 On 21 May 2019, a transfer and vary DPS application which were not subject to any representations, was granted by officers in accordance with delegated powers, naming Mr Baris Kisa, as the Premises Licence Holder (PLH), and also became the DPS.
	1.5 On 6 June 2023, Mr Kisa provided the up to date address details to the Licensing Team, and the premises licence was subsequently amended.
	1.6 The premises has not been subject to any review or formal action under licensing previously.
	1.7 The current premises licence LN/200501160 permits:
	1.7.1       The hours the premises are open to the public: 24 hours daily.
	1.7.2  Supply of alcohol (off supplies only): 24 hours daily.
	1.7.3  Late night refreshment (indoors): 23:00 to 05:00 daily.

	2.0  This Application:
	2.1  On 30 May 2023 an application was made by Enfield Council’s Licensing Authority for the review of Premises Licence LN/200501160 and is produced in Annex B.
	2.2   Additional Information was provided by the Licensing Authority to further support their representation and a copy is produced in Annex C.
	2.3   The review application has been submitted as the Licensing Authority believes the four licensing objectives are being undermined as the following unlawful activity is taking place at/from the premises:
	 sales of nitrous oxide are being recklessly made from the premises;
	 breaches of licence conditions.
	2.4   The review application seeks to revoke the premises licence in its entirety.
	2.5  The review application was advertised in accordance with the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003.
	2.6   Each of the Responsible Authorities were consulted in respect of the application.
	4.0  Proposed Licence Conditions:
	5.0 Relevant Law, Guidance & Policies:
	5.1 The paragraphs below are extracted from either :
	5.1.1 the Licensing Act 2003 (‘Act’); or
	5.1.2 the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State to the Home Office of April 2018 (‘Guid’); or
	5.1.3 the London Borough of Enfield’s Licensing Policy Statement of January 2020 (‘Pol’).

	5.2 The Licensing Sub-Committee must carry out its functions with a view to promoting the licensing objectives [Act s.4(1)].
	5.3The licensing objectives are :
	5.3.1 the prevention of crime and disorder;
	5.3.2 public safety;
	5.3.3the prevention of public nuisance; &
	5.3.4the protection of children from harm [Act s.4(2)].

	5.4 In carrying out its functions, the Sub-Committee must also have regard to :
	5.4.1 the Council’s licensing policy statement; &
	5.4.2 guidance issued by the Secretary of State [Act s.4(3)].

	5.5 In reviewing a licence the Licensing Sub-Committee will consider, and take into account, the complaints history of the premises and all other relevant information [Pol s.10.3].
	5.6 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly connected with licensable activities, for example the sale of contraband goods. The Sub-Committee does not have the power to judge the criminality or otherwise of any issu...
	5.7 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises which should be treated particularly seriously. These include the use of the premises for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol [Guid s.11.27].
	5.8 Where reviews arise in respect of these criminal activities and the Sub-Committee determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined, it is expected that revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be seriously ...
	5.10 Having heard all of the representations (from all parties) the Licensing Sub-Committee must take such steps as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. The steps are :
	5.10.1 to modify the conditions of the licence;
	5.10.2 to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
	5.10.3 to remove the designated premises supervisor
	5.10.4 to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;
	5.10.5 to revoke the licence [Act s.52].


	2. Annex A - Premises Licence
	3. Annex B - Review of Premises application
	4. Annex B - Appendix 1-10
	5. Annex C - Licensing Authority Additional Information
	LICENSING AUTHORITY REPRESENTATION
	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

	6. Annex C - Appendix 11
	7. Annex D - Other Party Representation - Cllr
	8. Annex E - Proposed Conditions




